KFH421.5 L35 A25 (48-9) c. 2

FUNCTIONS AND ACTIVITIES

of

TERRITORIAL

AND

CITY AND COUNTY AGENCIES

Including

Biographical Data for Territorial and City and County Officers

FUNCTIONS AND ACTIVITIES

OF

TERRITORIAL

AND

CITY AND COUNTY AGENCIES

Including

Biographical Data for Territorial and City and County Officers

STATE OF HAWAII

JUL 1 5 2019

LEGISLATIVE REFERENCE BUREAU

EMPLEANA TO THE TANK

#3/p 1948 Jan E12 Cyz

University of Hawaii Honolulu, T. H. January 6, 1948

FOREWORD

This is a report of the current functions and activities of both Territorial and City and County agencies. The data compiled were obtained from official reports, pertinent publications—officially and privately published—correspondence, and personal interviews. In the case of each governmental agency, an attempt was made to inventory activities as of the end of calendar year 1947.

As the governmental functions and activities of the City and County of Honolulu parallel those of the county governments of Hawaii, Kauai, and Maui, with the major exception that these counties do not elect Mayors, they have not been included in this report.

In way of summary, it is believed that the data contained in this report, relating both to governmental agencies and to the officers who determine and execute governmental policy, demonstrate that the Territory of Hawaii in the scope of its governmental functions and the conduct of its governmental affairs follows the traditional American pattern.

Norman Meller, Director Legislative Reference Bureau

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | Page |
|---|------|
| TERRITORIAL DEPARTMENTS, AGENCIES AND OFFICES | |
| I. COURTS | |
| SUPREME COURT | 1 |
| CIRCUIT COURTS | 2 |
| TT TOTAL AUTIDE | |
| II. LEGISLATURE | |
| LEGISLATURE OF THE TERRITORY OF HAWAII | 3 |
| III. EXECUTIVE | |
| <u>General</u> | • |
| OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR | 4 |
| BUREAU OF THE BUDGET | 5 |
| SECRETARY OF HAWAII | 6 |
| OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL | 7 |
| OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR | 8 |
| BOARD OF AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY | 9 |
| FAIR COMMISSION OF HAWAII | 10 |
| BOARD OF HARBOR COMMISSIONERS | 11 |
| HAWAII AERONAUTICS COMMISSION | 12 |
| HAWAII HOUSING AUTHORITY | 13 |
| HAWAII STATEHOOD COMMISSION | 14 |
| HAWAIIAN HOMES COMMISSION | 15 |
| DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH | 16 |
| OFFICE OF THE HIGH SHERIFF | 17 |

| | Page |
|---|------|
| BOARD OF HOSPITALS AND SETTLEMENT | 18 |
| DEPARTMENT OF INSTITUTIONS | 19 |
| BOARD OF PAROLES AND PARDONS | 20 |
| DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS | 21 |
| LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS APPEAL BOARD | 22 |
| APPRENTICESHIP COUNCIL | 23 |
| LIBRARY OF HAWAII | 24 |
| MILITARY DEPARTMENT, HAWAII NATIONAL GUARD | 25 |
| BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF PUBLIC ARCHIVES | 26 |
| DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION | 27 |
| DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC LANDS AND SURVEY | 28 |
| DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WELFARE | 29 |
| DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS | 30 |
| BUREAU OF SIGHT CONSERVATION AND WORK WITH THE BLIND . | 31 |
| OFFICE OF THE TAX COMMISSIONER | 32 |
| TERRITORIAL COUNCIL ON VETERANS' AFFAIRS | 33 |
| OFFICE OF THE TREASURER | 34 |
| BUREAU OF CONVEYANCES | 35 |
| UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII | 36 |
| <u>Personnel</u> | |
| TERRITORIAL CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION AND PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD | 37 |
| EMPLOYEES* RETIREMENT SYSTEM | 38 |
| TERRITORIAL RETIREMENT AND PENSION COMMISSION | 39 |
| Regulatory Boards and Commissions | F |
| BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF ABSTRACT MAKERS | 40 |
| (Index on Pages 126-129) | |

| | Page |
|--|------|
| TERRITORIAL BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY | 41 |
| BOARD OF BARBERS | 42 |
| TERRITORIAL BOXING COMMISSION | 43 |
| BOARD OF CHIROPRACTOR EXAMINERS | 44 |
| BOARD OF DENTAL EXAMINERS | 45 |
| BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF APPLICANTS FOR LICENSE TO PRACTICE EMBALMING AND FUNERAL DIRECTING | 46 |
| BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS, ARCHITECTS AND LAND SURVEYORS | 47 |
| BOARD OF HAIRDRESSERS, COSMETICIANS AND COSMETOLOGISTS | 48 |
| BOARD OF MASSAGE | 49 |
| BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS | 50 |
| MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS' AND SALESMEN'S LICENSING BOARD | 51 |
| BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF NATUROPATHY | 52 |
| BOARD OF LICENSING OF NURSES | 53 |
| BOARD OF OPTOMETRY | 54 |
| BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC EXAMINERS | 55 |
| BOARD OF PHARMACY | 56 |
| BOARD OF PHOTOGRAPHY | 57 |
| PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION | 58 |
| REAL ESTATE LICENSE COMMISSION | 59 |
| BOARD OF VETERINARY EXAMINERS | 60 |

| | Page |
|---|------------|
| CITY AND COUNTY DEPARTMENTS, AGENCIES, AND OFFICES | ŧ |
| : COURTS | , |
| DISTRICT COURTS | 61 |
| II. BOARD OF SUPERVISORS | |
| BOARD OF SUPERVISORS | 62 |
| III. EXECUTIVE | |
| OFFICE OF THE MAYOR | 63 |
| OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR | 64 |
| DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS | 65 |
| CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION AND PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD | 66 |
| OFFICE OF THE CLERK | 67 |
| OFFICE OF THE CONTROLLER | 68 |
| FIRE DEPARTMENT | 69 |
| HEALTH DEPARTMENT | 7 0 |
| LEGAL DEPARTMENT | |
| OFFICE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY ATTORNEY | 71 |
| OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC PROSECUTOR | 72 |
| LIQUOR COMMISSION | 73 |
| CITY PLANNING COMMISSION | 74 |
| HONOLULU POLICE DEPARTMENT | 75 |
| BOARD OF PUBLIC PARKS AND RECREATION | 76 |
| DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS | 77 |
| RENT CONTROL COMMISSION | 78 |
| | |

| | Page |
|--|--------|
| OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF | 79 |
| TRAFFIC SAFETY COMMISSION | 80 |
| OFFICE OF THE TREASURER | 81 |
| BOARD OF WATER SUPPLY | 82 |
| | |
| TERRITORIAL AND CITY AND COUNTY OFFICERS | |
| BIOGRAPHICAL DATA | 83-125 |

TERRITORIAL DEPARTMENTS, AGENCIES AND OFFICES

Supreme Court

The Supreme Court of the Territory of Hawaii consists of a Chief Justice and two Associate Justices appointed by the President of the United States with the consent of the United States Senate. The court room and chambers are located in the Judiciary Building in Honolulu. Salaries of all three justices are paid by the Federal Government and are currently supplemented by territorial appropriation. In addition, the Territory appropriated \$107,005.00 for the expenses of the Court for the 1947-49 binenium. The staff of the Supreme Court consists of nine persons.

The Supreme Court has general superintendence of all courts of inferior jurisdiction. It has appellate jurisdiction to hear questions of law, or of mixed law and fact, properly brought before it from inferior courts and judicial tribunals; its appellate jurisdiction extends to appeals from the Land Court and Tax Appeal Court. Original jurisdiction in questions arising under writs has also been conferred upon the Court.

In the calendar year 1946, 28 matters were disposed of by the Supreme Court. Of this number 13 were appeals, 6 original proceedings, and 9 motions. On December 31, 1946, it reported 26 cases were pending, as compared with 35 cases pending on the same date two years previous. It is charged with the examining and licensing of practitioners in the courts of record; 215 licensed attorneys were residing in the Territory as of December 31, 1947.

The present members of the Supreme Court of the Territory of Hawaii are: Chief Justice Samuel B. Kemp (see p.104), Associate Justice Emil C. Peters (see p.114), and Associate Justice Louis Le Baron (see p.106).

Circuit Courts

The Territory is divided into four judicial circuits, with a Circuit Court established in each. The second judicial circuit includes the Islands of Maui, Molokai (except Kalawao district where the leper settlement is located) and Lanai; the third includes the Island of Hawaii; the fifth, the Islands of Kauai and Niihau; and the first judicial circuit includes Oahu and the excepted area on Molokai. There are six Judges for the First Circuit Court, and one for each of the other Circuit Courts. All Judges are appointed by the President of the United States with the consent of the United States Senate.

The Circuit Courts have original jurisdiction of all felonies and misdemeanors where a trial by jury is demanded, suits for penalties and forfeitures, and all civil causes at law except minor matters. In addition, at chambers the Judges of the several Circuit Courts have power to hear and determine all matters in equity, grant probate of wills, and to issue the various writs. The Circuit Courts also have jurisdiction over all causes, civil or criminal, that may properly come before them on appeal from a magistrate's court or District Court.

By far the greatest bulk of work is handled by the First Circuit, it accounting for 5,197 out of the 7,594 cases disposed of in 1946. Probate actions, divorce—together with separation and annulment—and cases involving juvenile delinquents or dependents comprised 71 per cent of the total volume of cases disposed of in 1946.

In the First Circuit, the Judge of the Sixth Division is the Judge of Juvenile Court and is also responsible for the supervision and administration of the Juvenile Probation Division of the Court and the Juvenile Detention Home. The average daily population of the Home is 45 juveniles, and approximately 1,300 children are on the average under supervision. In the other Circuits, for administrative purposes the Juvenile Court is treated as a division of the Circuit Court, with the Circuit Court Judge sitting in chambers as Judge of the Juvenile Court.

The total number of employees of the Circuit Courts is 161. Of this number, 111 are on Oahu, with 12 concerned with adult probation, and the personnel aiding in the work of the Juvenile Court totaling 54. The balance is distributed among the other Circuit Courts, 19 for the Second Circuit Court, 19 for the Third, and 12 for the Fifth.

The salaries of the Judges of the Circuit Courts are paid by the Federal Government, and are currently supplemented by the territorial appropriation. In addition, the Territory appropriated \$1,456,920.00 for the expenses of the Circuit Courts for the 1947-49 biennium, of which amount \$403,868.00 was for the Juvenile Court and the Juvenile Detention Home in the First Circuit.

Judges in the First Circuit are: Judges Carrick H. Buck, 1st Division (see p. 88); Albert M. Cristy, 2nd Division (see p. 91); John E. Parks, 3rd Division (see p.113); Willson C. Moore, 4th Division (see p.111); John A. Matthewman, 5th Division (see p.109); Gerald R. Corbett, 6th Division (see p. 91). Judges in the Second, Third and Fifth Circuits are, respectively: Judges Cable A. Wirtz (see p.125), Martin Pence (see p.114) and Philip L. Rice (see p.116).

Legislature of the Territory of Hawaii

The legislative power of the Territory is vested in the House of Representatives and Senate of the territorial legislature, and, to the extent the approval of the Governor is a prerequisite for a bill's becoming law, in the Governor. This legislative power extends to all rightful subjects of legislation not inconsistent with the United States Constitution and applicable laws of the United States, including the Organic Act of the Territory.

The Senate is composed of 15 members, elected for four-year terms, with 4 members from the Island of Hawaii, 3 from the Islands of Maui, Molokai, Lanai and Kahoolawe, 6 from the Island of Oahu, and 2 from the Islands of Kauai and Niihau. Mr. Clement Gomes (see p. 96) was elected President of the Territorial Senate when the 24th Legislature organized in February, 1947.

The 30 members of the House of Representatives are elected for two-year terms. Representation afforded the various islands in the House is proportionately the same as that provided for the Senate, the relative number of Representatives merely being double the number of Senators allowed for the same island or group of islands. Mr. Manuel G. Paschoal (see p.114) was elected by the House as its Speaker after the convening of the 24th Legislature.

At the 1947 regular session of the legislature, 535 bills were introduced in the Senate and 969 in the House. 248 bills were enacted and became law, or about one-sixth of the number introduced. The 24th Legislature appropriated \$250,000.00 for its expenses and those of its committees active during the interim subsequent to adjournment.

Office of the Governor

The Governor of the Territory of Hawaii is appointed by the President of the United States, with the consent of the United States Senate, for a four-year term. The present incumbent is Mr. Ingram M. Stainback (see p. 120).

As Governor, he is responsible for the execution of the laws of the United States and of the Territory. In addition to being the representative of the Federal Government in the Territory, his powers and duties are comparable to those of the Governors of the 48 States. He is both the titular head of the territorial government as well as the official charged with the supervision of all territorial administrative agencies. The Governor acts as Commander-in-Chief of the militia, grants pardons and reprieves, and appoints all subordinate officers as provided in the Organic Act and the laws of the Territory.

There are 4 employees in the Office of the Governor. The salary of the Governor is paid by the Federal Government, but is currently supplemented by territorial appropriation. In addition, \$75,000.00 was appropriated for the expenses of the Governor's office and residence, and \$200,000.00 as a contingent fund to meet urgent needs of the Territory for which provision has not been made.

Bureau of the Budget

The Bureau of the Budget is charged with the responsibility of preparing the budget and supplemental estimates for the Territory, with the
authority to assemble, correlate, revise, reduce or increase estimates of
the several departments. Additionally, it conducts investigations of the
administration of the various departments and agencies of the territorial
government for the purpose of advising the Governor and committees of the
Legislature concerning their duties, methods, and efficiency, and recommending changes for greater economy and efficiency.

With an appropriation of \$207,850.00 for the current biennium and staffed with 13 employees, 8 of whom perform administrative duties and 5 perform clerical, the Bureau's activities extend to all departments, boards, commissions and agencies of the territorial government and into certain financial problems of the counties.

The Director of the Bureau, Mr. Paul J. Thurston (see p. 121), an appointee of the Governor, also serves as Chairman of the Board of Disposal.

Secretary of Hawaii

In the scope of its duties and responsibilities, the Office of Secretary of Hawaii corresponds to the combined offices of Secretary of State and Lieutenant Governor in the State governments. As is the case on the mainland with regard to the latter officer, upon the death, removal, resignation or disability of the Governor, the Secretary of Hawaii exercises the powers and performs all duties of the Governor during the vacancy.

In addition, the Secretary of Hawaii is charged with the responsibility of recording and preserving all laws and proceedings of the Legislature and all acts of the Governor. His duties include supervision of elections; distribution of the Revised Laws of Hawaii, Session Laws of Hawaii, and other territorial statutes and publications; issuance of delayed certificates of birth; certification of documents issued by the territorial government; and maintaining an official file of all rules and regulations promulgated by the territorial departments. The Secretary of Hawaii is also Chairman and Executive Officer of the Board of Commissioners of Public Archives, having charge of all archival material.

The Office of the Secretary of Hawaii is staffed with 8 employees, 4 of whom perform clerical and stenographic duties, while the remaining 4 are attached to the Birth Registration Division. The staff of this Division visits all centers of population in the Territory at least once each year to receive applications for Hawaiian Birth Certificates, and to secure evidence pertaining to the issuance of birth certificates.

A total of \$173,981.00 was appropriated to the Office of Secretary of Hawaii for the current biennium. Additional revenues in the amount of \$14,758.00 are estimated from fees and the sale of law books.

The Secretary of Hawaii is appointed by the President of the United States, with the advice and consent of the United States Senate, for a term of four years. The present Secretary of Hawaii is Mr. Oren E. Long (see p.107).

Office of the Attorney General

Legal services for all departments of the territorial government are performed by the Office of the Attorney General. In addition, the county attorneys of the respective counties, as well as the city and county attorney and public prosecutor, are deputies of the Attorney General and are subject to his supervision and control.

Staffed with 10 professional, 8 clerical, 1 administrative, and 3 investigational employees—a total of 22 employees—the Office of the Attorney General has an appropriation of \$292,842.00 for the current biennium.

The Attorney General is appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The present Attorney General is Mr. Walter D. Ackerman, Jr. (see p. 83).

Office of the Auditor

The Auditor and Deputy Auditor of the Territory of Hawaii are appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate of the Territory. In addition to the Deputy Auditor provided in the Organic Act, the Auditor is also assisted by a Second Deputy Auditor. The work of the Auditing Department is divided into four divisions.

The Control, Accounting and Reporting Division, staffed by seven employees, keeps the general books of the territorial government from which the annual reports to the Governor and the biennial reports to the legislature are prepared. These reports comprise financial statements such as balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations, statements of receipts and payments for all funds and statements of unappropriated surplus accounts.

The Pre-Audit Division, staffed by seven employees, scrutinizes and checks for legality of payment some 23,500 vouchers, payrolls and contract payments in the course of a year.

The Disbursing Division, staffed by six employees, prepares and issues annually approximately 220,000 territorial warrants in payments of vouchers, payrolls, etc. Garnishments and other deductions are handled by this division.

The Field Audit Division, with a staff of eight employees, conducts approximately 320 field audits of territorial departments, boards, commissions and public schools. In addition, the Second Deputy Auditor conducts investigations into the accounting systems and business procedures of the various territorial agencies and makes recommendations to improve their efficiency.

The total appropriation for the 1947-49 biennium is \$401,974.00. The present Auditor is Mr. Joseph Dickson (see p. 92).

Board of Agriculture and Forestry

The Board of Agriculture and Forestry is charged with the management and protection of the natural resources of the Territory, as well as with the enforcement of laws and regulations relating to agricultural products and activities. As part of its duties, it has control of forest reservations, enforces all laws relating to fish and wild game, and aids in the eradication of pests and diseases injurious to vegetation and domestic animals. Its functions are carried out through the work of five divisions, the Division of Forestry, Division of Entomology, Division of Animal Industry, Division of Marketing, and Division of Fish and Game.

The Board maintains branch offices on the Islands of Maui, Kauai, and Hawaii where administrative, custodial and inspectional or professional staffs are maintained by each Division to carry out their respective functions. On the Island of Molokai there are representatives of the Forestry, Fish and Game, and Animal Industry divisions, only.

Staffed with 199 employees in all its offices, the Board has a total appropriation of \$1,585,515.00 for the current biennium to carry on its work throughout the Territory.

The activities of the Board of Agriculture and Forestry are under the supervision of 7 Commissioners, all appointees of the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. One of the Commissioners is designated as the President and Executive Officer of the Board, the position now occupied by Mr. Colin G. Lennox (see p.106).

Fair Commission of Hawaii

The Fair Commission of Hawaii consists of the Chairman, Mr. E. Walker Chapman (see p. 90), and six additional members, all appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate, to serve terms of four years without pay. In recent years, the sole activity of the Commission has been to exercise jurisdiction over the Ala Wai Golf Course in Honolulu, a territorial course formerly used as the fair grounds.

The Ala Wai Golf Course has 776 members, each of whom pays monthly dues of \$3.50. In addition, it is a daily fee course, open to the public in general. One professional golf instructor, three clerks, and fourteen groundskeepers constitute the staff of the Ala Wai Course. The professional is employed on a concession basis, but all other employees are hired through the Territorial Civil Service Commission.

The legislature appropriated \$50,000.00 to the Fair Commission toward erection of a clubhouse. Dues and fees, after payment of expenses, are currently being added to this sum, and erection of the clubhouse is contemplated in the near future.

Board of Harbor Commissioners

Harbor facilities of the Territory are administered by the Board of Harbor Commissioners appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Territorial Senate. The Board consists of five members, the Superintendent of Public Works being ex-officio Chairman. It is responsible for the control of shores and shore waters for all islands of the Hawaiian group, and the managing, constructing, operating, and maintaining of all port facilities owned by the Territory.

With the approval of the Governor, the Board promulgates rules and regulations covering operation of harbor facilities and sets rate of charges for their use. The major harbors are Honolulu on the Island of Oahu, Hilo and Kawaihae on the Island of Hawaii, Port Allen and Nawiliwili on the Island of Kauai, Kahului on the Island of Maui, and Kaunakakai on the Island of Molokai.

The Board operates as a self-supporting public utility. Allotments from income for the current year are as follows:

Five field offices, each responsible for operating the harbors on its respective island, are maintained by the Board. There is a total of 144 employees, 10 in the administrative group, 15 in the professional group, 11 in the clerical group and 108 in the custodial (maintenance) group.

The Director of the Board of Harbor Commissioners is Mr. Benjamin F. Rush (see p.117), an appointee of the Board.

Hawaii Aeronautics Commission

The Hawaii Aeronautics Commission, created in 1947, has jurisdiction and control of all territorial airways, airports and air navigation facilities. It is charged with the encouragement and development of aeronautics within the Territory of Hawaii. The Commission consists of 7 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The Director of Aeronautics, Mr. Robert L. Campbell (see p. 89), who is the executive officer of the Commission, is an appointee of the Commission and serves at its pleasure.

Under the jurisdiction of the Commission there are twelve fields in active operation located throughout the Territory. Two new fields are now being processed and will shortly be put into operation.

For the year 1947 there was a total of 145,036 aircraft operations at the Honolulu Airport. Of this number, 41,522 were scheduled operations, 14,801 were itinerant operations which included Army and Navy air forces and civil aircraft, and 88,713 were local aircraft operations. Aircraft operations at the Honolulu Airport compare favorably in volume with operations in Baltimore, Maryland; Cincinnati, Ohio; Denver, Colorado; Seattle, Washington; Portland, Oregon; and Oakland, California.

In addition to a special fund designated as the Territorial Airport Fund derived from taxes collected on fuel sold for use in airplanes, all monies received by the Commission as rents, fees and other charges are applied for the expenses of operation and maintenance of airports and air navigation facilities.

There are approximately 65 employees on the staff of the Hawaii Aero-nautics Commission, 20 of which constitute the administrative group and 45 constitute the maintenance crew.

Hawaii Housing Authority

The Hawaii Housing Authority is a corporate body created by the territorial legislature in 1935 to initiate, plan, construct, and manage housing projects for families of low income in conjunction with other governmental agencies, and to provide safe and sanitary dwelling units in place of slum areas.

There are now 15 housing projects in operation, 12 of which are located in Honolulu and on the perimeter of Pearl Harbor, 2 on the Island of Hawaii, and 1 at the Naval Air Station, Kahului, on the Island of Maui. These project offices are, in a sense, branch offices of the Authority as they are responsible to the central office located in Honolulu.

The Authority operates within the rental revenue received from rental of units on the various housing projects under its administration. This income not only pays for salaries, but pays for maintenance, repairs, replacements, establishment of reserves, insurance, etc.

There are 100 employees in the Hawaii Housing Authority, 48 performing custodial duties, 38 clerical, 1 professional, 2 sub-professional and 11 performing administrative duties.

The Authority consists of five commissioners who are appointed by the Governor with the consent of the Senate of the Territory. They receive no compensation, but may be reimbursed for expenses incurred in the discharge of their duties. The Chairman of the Hawaii Housing Authority is Mr. Robert H. Lloyd (see p. 107) and Mr. Archibald S. Guild is its Executive Director (see p. 96).

Hawaii Statehood Commission

The Hawaii Statehood Commission is composed of eight members, who are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. In addition there is a Legislative Holdover Committee on Statehood consisting of six Senators and six Representatives. All members of the Commission and of the Holdover Committee serve without compensation.

The chief function of the Commission is actively to support and press the movement for statehood for Hawaii. The Commission is authorized to assemble, compile, publish and disseminate information in furtherance of statehood and to advocate and support claims of the Territory and its inhabitants to equal treatment and usage as that received by the States of the Union.

The Commission maintains two offices, one in Honolulu staffed with 4 employees, and the other in Washington, D. C., staffed by the Executive Secretary of the Commission and two clerical assistants. The Commission has an appropriation of \$200,000.00 for the current biennium.

The Chairman of the Hawaii Statehood Commission is Mr. Abner T. Longley (see p. 107).

Hawaiian Homes Commission

The Hawaiian Homes Commission, of which Mr. Frank H. West (see p.123) is Chairman, was established for the purpose of developing tracts of land on the Islands of Molokai, Hawaii, Kauai, and Oahu for homesteads and farm lots which are granted to families of Hawaiian blood.

The Commission, composed of five members appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate, is authorized to lease to native Hawaiians the right to the use and occupancy of Hawaiian home lands within the following acreage limits for each lessee: (1) not less than one nor more than 40 acres of agricultural lands; or (2) not less than 100 nor more than 500 acres of first-class pastoral lands; or (3) not less than 250 nor more than 1,000 acres of second-class pastoral lands; or (4) not more than one acre of any land if it is to be used as a residence lot. Leases run for a term of 99 years at a rental of \$1.00 per year.

As of December 1947, 7,246 acres of Hawaiian home lands were under lease to 988 lessees and the number of people residing on these lands to-taled 4,094.

The Commission maintains its central office in Honolulu in addition to branch offices on the Islands of Hawaii and Molokai. It also operates two nursery schools, one located in Honolulu and the other on the Island of Hawaii.

For the current biennium 1947-49 the estimated budget is \$302,329.00, of which approximately \$135,000.00 will be met by receipts from rentals of available lands.

Department of Health

In 1839, King Kamehameha III, by royal proclamation, created a Board of Health. Official public health in Hawaii thus precedes by 17 years the first state board of health in the United States.

The Territorial Board of Health is composed of 9 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. It is charged with the care of the health of the people of the Territory. The Department of Health represents the executive branch of the territorial government which administers the laws relating to health, medical and sanitary services. Dr. Charles L. Wilbar, Jr. (see p. 124) is the President of the Board of Health and Executive Officer of the Department of Health.

In each of the three counties outside of Honolulu (Hawaii, Maui, and Kauai), a branch health unit is maintained which performs services and educational activities similar to those carried on by the Territorial Health Department in the City and County of Honolulu.

Through health clinics, a total of 33,828 persons were served during the past year by the bureau of maternal and child health and crippled children, bureau of mental hygiene, and bureau of venereal diseases. Chest X-rays totaled 126,164; 137,072 bacteriological examinations were made; and there were 998 full-service cases in mental hygiene.

Upon recommendation of their respective examining boards, the Department grants physician and surgeon, osteopathy, chiropractic, naturopathy, and veterinary licenses. In addition, it issues permits to Hawaiian herbalists, chiropodists, physiotherapists, midwives, laboratory directors, and laboratory technicians. It appoints marriage agents, whose duty is to grant marriage licenses.

Revenues available to the Department for the current biennium are approximately \$4,175,068.00, \$3,288,467.00 being from territorial sources, \$885,527.00 from federal funds, and \$1,074.00 from private contributions for cancer research.

There is a total of 501 employees in the Department of Health, 100 in the custodial group, 112 in the clerical group, 49 in the administrative group, 146 in the professional group (including 37 part-time physicians), and 94 in the sub-professional group.

Office of the High Sheriff

The High Sheriff is appointed by the Governor, subject to Senate confirmation, and exercises his duties and responsibilities under the supervision of the Attorney General of the Territory. He is charged with the control and supervision of the subordinate officers of the police, and with the service of process issuing out of the courts of the Territory and other territorial agencies.

Commissions have been granted to 23 Deputy High Sheriffs, 10 of whom are appointed and serve with no compensation, receiving fees from services on summons issued out of the courts, and 13 of whom are employed by the various territorial agencies where the exercise of police power is necessary. In addition to these 23 deputies, the Office of the High Sheriff appoints one deputy on each of the outside islands to provide services to the courts in their respective districts. Finally, 3 Territorial Police Commissions have been issued to members of the Board of Paroles and Pardons of the Department of Institutions.

The Office of the High Sheriff receives no appropriation but relies solely upon fees received from services on summons and litigations.

The High Sheriff of the Territory is Mr. Ah Chew Lau (see p.105).

Board of Hospitals and Settlement

The Board of Hospitals and Settlement administers the program for the care and treatment of leprosy in the Territory and for the rehabilitation and improvement of Kalaupapa Settlement on the Island of Molokai and the Kalihi Receiving Station in Honolulu. Also under its control and supervision are an out-patient clinic and a welfare department. These two divisions, as well as the general administrative offices, are located in Honolulu.

In the fiscal year 1947, 589 persons were under the care and jurisdiction of the Board. Of this number 324 were active leprous patients. The Board reports the continuing decline of the disease of leprosy in the Territory to 326 active cases as of June 30, 1947 - a decrease of 307 cases, or 49%, from the total of 623 at July 1, 1931, the date of the organization and establishment of the Board. Further, the incidence of new cases of leprosy has decreased from 60 in the year 1931-1932 to the recent five-year average of 31.

There are 130 employees who carry out the activities of this Board, with 5 performing administrative duties, 5 professional, 21 sub-professional, 12 clerical, and 87 custodial.

For the current biennium 1947-49, \$1,689,792.00 has been appropriated to the Board, to be expended for the following operations:

| Kalihi Hospital. Kalaupapa Settlement. Parole & Suspect Division. Board's Clinic. General Administration. Welfare Division. Relief of Released Indigent Persons. Care and Placement of Children. Miscellaneous. | \$ 216,001.00 1,300,839.00 16,560.00 35,218.00 59,646.00 4,916.00 1,600.00 35,935.00 19,077.00 |
|---|--|
| Total | |

The Board of Hospitals and Settlement is composed of five members, appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. Members serve four year terms without compensation. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. H. Alexander Walker (see p.123).

Department of Institutions

The Department of Institutions is charged with the care, custody and treatment of wards of the Territory to effectuate their return to the community as productive members of society. This is undertaken through the Territorial Hospital, the Waimano Home, the Kawailoa Training School for Girls, the Waialee Training School for Boys, and the Oahu Prison and its subsidiary camps. The Division of Parole and Homeplacement is also under the jurisdiction and control of the Department.

The total number of wards of the Territory cared for or supervised by the Department as of December 20, 1947, was 3,277. Within the institutions named were 2,569 wards, and the balance were on parole or convalescent status. Inmates of Oahu Prison on parole or probation are not under the jurisdiction of the Department, but under either the Board of Paroles and Pardons (see p. 20) or the Adult Probation Division of the Circuit Court (see p. 2).

The Department has 584 employee personnel, with the majority having custodial duties. Included in the total are 85 professional and sub-professional employees, and 137 with administrative duties. For the current biennium \$5,968,698.00 was appropriated by the territorial legislature. Supplementary revenue in the amount of approximately \$295,000.00 for the care of non-indigent patients, wards, and federal prisoners is anticipated. In addition, about \$475,000.00 will be derived directly from the activities of the institutions, almost exclusively from the production, use, and sale of farm products. Oahu Prison is in the process of being converted into an industrial prison, and it is anticipated that revenues derived therefrom will materially augment the funds available for the care and custody of Oahu Prison inmates.

The Director of the Department of Institutions is appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The present Director and Chairman of the Department's Advisory Board is Mr. Thomas B. Vance (see p.122).

Board of Paroles and Pardons

The Board of Paroles and Pardons establishes rules and regulations under which prisoners may be paroled, and paroles revoked; recommends minimum sentences in cases of prisoners imprisoned for felonies; recommends commutation of sentences; supervises prisoners on parole; grants final discharges from parole as well as conducts investigations on petitions for pardon referred by the Governor.

There are 10 employees, 4 performing administrative and clerical duties and 6 performing parole supervision duties, in the Honolulu office. The field activities of the Board also cover the outside islands where there are 5 assistant parole officers, serving without pay. Approximately 585 men on parole are now being supervised.

The Board has an appropriation of \$83,895.00 for the current biennium to carry on its activities.

The Board, which is composed of five members, is appointed by the Governor and serves without compensation. The present chairman of the Board is Mr. Alexis J. Gignoux (see p. 94).

Department of Labor and Industrial Relations

A Commission of 5 members directs the operations of the Department of Labor and Industrial Relations. It issues rules and regulations of general application for the protection of the health and safety of employees in every employment and place of employment in the Territory. The activities of the Department are carried on by four bureaus.

The Bureau of Unemployment Compensation administers the Unemployment Compensation Law, Title V of the Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, and Title XIII of the Social Security Act. During the fiscal year 1947 the Bureau paid \$345,073.00 in unemployment benefits and \$363,604.00 to veterans under the "G. I. Bill of Rights." A total of 8,654 continued claims and 4,398 initial claims for unemployment compensation were handled in the same fiscal year. The Territorial Employment Service is also under the administration of this Bureau and operates with funds granted by the Social Security Administration under Title III of the Social Security Act. In the fiscal year 1947, 127,563 reception contacts were made and 9,723 persons placed in employment.

The Bureau of Workmen's Compensation is charged with the administration of the Workmen's Compensation Law. Coverage is compulsory for industrial employment and employers may elect to insure exempt employees. In the fiscal year just passed, 16,802 injury and occupational disease reports were filed and \$787,260.44 paid in compensation, medical, and hospital expense.

The Bureau of Labor Law Enforcement is responsible for enforcement of the Minimum Wage and Maximum Hour Law, the Child Labor Law and the processing of wage claims. In fiscal year 1947 the Wage and Hour Division completed 2,046 inspections of business firms and caused \$41,354.93 to be paid in restitution to 1,254 employees. 170 wage claims were handled by the Division during the year. The Child Labor Division registered 12,158 minors in fiscal 1947 and issued 12,040 child labor certificates for employment.

The collection of data on wages, hours and working conditions of employment in the Territory and maintaining an index of consumer goods and services in Honolulu is performed by the Bureau of Research and Statistics of the Department.

The administrative offices of the Department are located in Honolulu, and a county agent is located on each outer island to represent the Department. The Employment Service maintains a separate office in each county seat, and the Wage and Hour Division assigns an inspector to each county.

There are 123 employees in the Department with 23 performing administrative duties, 2 professional, 18 inspectional and 80 clerical. For the biennium 1947-49 the sum of \$392,692.00 was appropriated for departmental operations.

The members of the Commission are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Members serve for five-year terms without compensation. Miss Ruth W. Loomis is Acting Director of the Department (see p.108) and Mr. E. Leigh Stevens (see p.121) is Director of the Territorial Employment Service.

Labor and Industrial Relations Appeal Board

The Labor and Industrial Relations Appeal Board considers appeals in Oahu submitted from decisions of the Director of the Department of Labor and Industrial Relations. Separate Industrial Accident Boards have been established in Hawaii, Kauai, and Maui for the same purpose of hearing workmen's compensation appeals. The outside island Boards consist of 5 members while the Board in Honolulu is composed of 3 members. All members of the Boards are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory, and receive compensation of \$10.00 per diem for actual attendance and reimbursement for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

In Honolulu, for the year 1947, the Board considered two appeals, one in which the Director's decision was affirmed and the other in which the case is before the Circuit Court. The Chairman of the Board in Honolulu is Mr. Morris N. Freedman (see p. 94).

Apprenticeship Council

The Apprenticeship Council is charged with the responsibility of establishing standards for apprenticeship agreements and advising and guiding the Director of Apprenticeship in the execution of the apprenticeship law. The standards recommended by the Federal Committee on Apprenticeship have been consistently used as a guide by the Council.

The purpose of apprenticeship is to supply industry with trained workers. The Apprenticeship Council has no regulatory power, it merely setting the standards to which employers and crafts voluntarily elect to conform. Upon such election the Council approves the particular apprenticeship agreement and recognizes the training program. As of December 15, 1947, there were approximately 160 establishments in the Territory, involving a total of 92 trades and crafts, registered with the Council.

The staff of the Apprenticeship Council is for administrative purposes a part of the Territorial Department of Labor and Industrial Relations (see p. 21). The Director of Apprenticeship is appointed by the Director of Labor and Industrial Relations subject to confirmation by the Council. There are in addition two clerical assistants as well as two field men from other agencies working in cooperation. Offices are maintained in Honolulu. The 1947-1949 estimated budget is \$29,215.00.

The Apprenticeship Council is composed of six persons appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Three represent employers and the remaining members represent labor. Mr. John A. Owens, a labor representative (see p.112) is Chairman.

Library of Hawaii

The Board of Trustees of the Library of Hawaii is charged with the responsibility of managing the Library of Hawaii. The Board is composed of 7 members who are appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. The President of the Board is Mr. David M. Moncrief, Jr. (see p.110).

The Library of Hawaii provides library service to the Island of Oahu through 62 distributing centers, including the main library in Honolulu, 5 branch libraries, 21 community deposit collections, 5 institutions, 11 school deposits, and 19 schools served by the Book Car.

For the year ending June 30, 1947, there were 792,141 volumes taken home by 70,482 readers. The Library had on its shelves at that date 187,864 bound volumes; 17,889 pamphlets; 28,519 mounted pictures; 884 large maps and a collection of approximately 64,000 unbound periodicals. The Library for the Blind contains 2,768 volumes in Braille and Moon type and 1,103 titles in talking books, comprising 19,825 records. A total of 15,098 talking book records were circulated during the year as well as 38 volumes in Braille.

In addition to its circulation service, the Library presents weekly phonograph concerts as well as educational movies and talks to the public.

The Library is staffed with 86 employees, 14 of whom are part-time workers and paid from private funds. Of the remaining number, 30 perform professional duties, 37 clerical, and 5 custodial. A total of \$482,137.00 was appropriated for the biennium, 1947-49, and with estimated receipts totaling \$43,000.00, \$525,137.00 will be available for its operation.

Military Department, Hawaii National Guard

The Military Department of the Territory is composed of the military forces of the Territory, consisting of the national guard and the unorganized militia. At present the national guard has a strength of approximately 3,300.

The Governor's command over the territorial military forces is exercised through the Adjutant General who is in control of the Military Department, subordinate to the Governor. The Adjutant General is Brigadier General F. W. Makinney (see p. 109).

The Department has 56 employees, of whom 8 are administrative, 20 elerical, and the balance custodial. In addition to the Honolulu Armory and the Iolani Barracks in Honolulu, there are 2 armories on each of the Islands of Hawaii, Kauai, and Maui, and one on the Island of Molokai.

The appropriation of the Military Department for the current biennium, 1947-49, is \$446,215.00. An additional \$35,000 will be made available to the Department from rentals of national guard armories.

Board of Commissioners of Public Archives

The Board of Commissioners of Public Archives, comprised of 3 members, the Secretary of the Territory of Hawaii serving as its ex-officio Chairman (see p.107), is responsible for the collection, classification, arrangement, and safekeeping of all written and printed material pertaining to the government, history and people of the Territory. The members of the Board, 2 of whom are appointees of the Governor subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory, serve without compensation but are entitled to expenses incidental to the performance of their duties.

There are 10 salaried employees, the Archivist being the executive officer of the Board. For the current biennium 1947-49, the sum of \$75,773.00 was appropriated for the Board. Other revenues derived from charges made for certified and photostat copies of documents are estimated at \$350.00.

Department of Public Instruction

The Department of Public Instruction maintains a territory-wide system of free public schools for the education of the youth of Hawaii. Schooling starts with the kindergarten at age five. First grade education commences one year later at age six, and the child's schooling continues through the twelfth grade of the senior high school. There are 84,142 students now enrolled. Compulsory school attendance in the Territory is from six to sixteen years of age. In general, the course of study is similar to that of any good mainland school system.

The Superintendent of Public Instruction is the chief school officer and is charged with the over-all supervision of all public schools in the Territory. The administration of the Department is divided among five geographical districts, the city of Honolulu, rural Oahu, the County of Kauai, the County of Maui and the County of Hawaii. Each of the five districts is under a Supervising Principal who is responsible to the Superintendent of Public Instruction.

Besides the regular senior high schools, there are 4 vocational schools, each located on a different island, to give training in the skilled trades and crafts. There is also a Territorial Deaf and Blind School in Honolulu in which 101 students are enrolled. A Vocational Rehabilitation Division is operated in connection with the Department. This Division handles training and placement of individuals with vocational handicaps due to physical disability, and at present has an active case load of 495.

The Dental Hygiene Division of the Department has been in operation for 25 years. Prophylactic treatment and mouth examinations are given in all elementary schools. There are 27 licensed dental hygienists now practicing in Hawaii's public schools.

Appropriations and estimated revenues for the public schools of Hawaii for the current biennium are as follows:

| Territorial appropriations | \$26,745,537.00 |
|--------------------------------|-----------------|
| Counties' special school funds | 4,500,000.00 |
| Revenue receipts | 195,000.00 |
| Federal grants and aids | 670,000.00 |
| Bond issue authorizations | 5,438,000.00 |
| Total | \$37,548,537.00 |

Total Departmental personnel is 3,976, of whom 3,052 are principals and teachers. The remaining number is composed of:

| Administrative and Supervisory Staff | 66 |
|--------------------------------------|-----|
| Clerical | 240 |
| Cafeteria Managers | 139 |
| Cafeteria Helpers | 228 |
| Janitors | 251 |

Dr. W. Harold Loper (see p. 108) is the Superintendent of the Department while Mr. Alexander Smith (see p. 119) is Chairman of the Commissioners of the Department of Public Instruction. Both are appointees of the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory.

Department of Public Lands and Survey

The control of public lands in the Territory of Hawaii is vested in the Board of Public Lands, composed of 6 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. A. D. Castro (see p. 89).

With the exception of Hawaiian home lands, all lands in the possession, use and control of the Territory are managed by the Commissioner of Public Lands, Mr. A. Lester Marks (see p.109), who is also the Surveyor of the Territory of Hawaii. The Commissioner is authorized to homestead, lease, sell and otherwise dispose of public lands and other property in the manner deemed best for the protection of agriculture and the general welfare of the Territory.

All land patents, leases, deeds, contracts, agreements, executive orders, licenses, revocable permits, grants, or other conveyances of any government land or real estate are prepared by and issued from the Administrative Office of the Commissioner. The Administrative Office serves as a depository for all documents pertaining to real property or any interest therein conveyed by or to the Territory or to any political subdivision of the Territory. The staff of the Administrative Office consists of 23 employees.

The Division of Hydrography in the Department is charged with the investigation and determination of the water resources of the Territory, in cooperation with the United States Geological Survey. This Division also has general supervision over ground water investigations, and direction of the order in which ground water projects are undertaken. The Hydrography Office has a staff of 10 employees.

The Office of the Surveyor in the Department is responsible for the surveying of public lands for leasing, homesteading, and subdividing, and all other surveys in land transactions for public purposes. The Survey Office also checks descriptions of surveys in transactions in which the Territory is a party, prepares maps, and controls trigonometrical survey stations, government boundary line marks, etc. The Survey Office has a staff of 22 employees.

Appropriations and other funds available to the Department for the biennium 1947-49 total \$1,656,003.00. Of this amount \$621,003.00 was appropriated and the balance represents transfers from special funds and moneys in the Land Office Development Fund. Collections for the same period are estimated at \$3,036,590.00, of which \$2,580,890.00 will be from land rentals, water and land licenses, fees, sales of commodities, and improvements, and \$199,710.00 from sales of public lands.

Department of Public Welfare

The Department of Public Welfare provides financial assistance to those in need to enable them to have a standard of living compatible with decency and health. The Department (i) administers public assistance, including old age assistance, aid to dependent children, aid to the blind, and general assistance; (ii) administers child welfare services for homeless, neglected, and dependent children, and for children who are in danger of becoming delinquent; (iii) places or coordinates the placing of dependent children in suitable institutions or in private foster homes; (iv) supervises and annually licenses child-caring institutions and child-placing agencies; (v) maintains receiving homes for the temporary care and custody of dependent children until suitable placements can be made; (vi) furnishes or pays for the cost of medical services, including medical care and hospitalization, for persons receiving assistance and for medical indigents; (vii) develops plans in cooperation with other public and private agencies for the prevention and treatment of conditions giving rise to public welfare problems; (viii) and provides social services to those in economic need as well as to those needing service in solving family and individual problems.

As of the end of November, 1947, the Department was providing assistance and services to approximately 10,500 persons in the Territory. Of this number, 9,000 received financial assistance and 1,500 received social services only or medical services.

| Category | No. of Recipients | Average Payments |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------|
| Old age assistance | 1,827 | \$ 34.11 |
| Aid to dependent children | 1,132 | 88.40 |
| Aid to the blind | 79 | 37.47 |
| General assistance | 941 | 47.97 |
| Foster care | 822 | 39.63 |

One territorial office and four county offices are maintained by the Department. Honolulu, being the largest county, has 99 employees and 6 field offices; Hawaii county, 34 employees and 4 field offices; Maui county (including Islands of Molokai and Lanai) has 19 employees and 3 field offices; and Kauai county has 13 employees and 1 field office. The Department has 203 employees, 121 in the professional or administrative group, 73 in the clerical group, and 8 in the custodial group. Qualifications for the professional staff are among the highest in the United States.

The Department is financed from the territorial tax on compensation and dividends. The estimated departmental income for the biennium approximates \$7,150,000.00, of which income from federal revenues will be \$2,150,000.00

The Director of the Department, Mr. Newton R. Holcomb (see p. 99) is an appointee of the Governor. The 5 members of the Public Welfare Advisory Board, of which Mrs. Louise Root (see p.116) is Chairman, are also appointed by the Governor, and like the Director, their appointments are subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate.

Department of Public Works

The Department of Public'Works is responsible for the management of the internal improvements of the Territory, including the design, construction and maintenance of territorial buildings, airports, grounds, highways, bridges, cemeteries, flood control, and other public works projects.

The Department maintains branch offices under District Engineers on the Islands of Hawaii, Maui, and Kauai. It has a total of 561 employees, 19 of whom are in the administrative group, 84 in the clerical group, 264 in the custodial group and the remaining 194 in the professional, 123 of whom are in the sub-professional group.

The appropriation for the current biennium is:

| General fund | \$ 1,061,255.00 |
|--|-----------------|
| Estimated highway funds, including federal aid | 13,000,000.00 |
| Estimated airport construction fund, including federal aid | 1,800,000.00 |
| Estimated general public works | 11,545,000.00 |
| Total | \$27,406,255.00 |

At the head of the Department is the Superintendent, Mr. Robert M. Belt (see p. 85), who is also the Territorial Highway Engineer, Chairman (ex-officio) of the Board of Harbor Commissioners, Chairman (ex-officio) of the Territorial Radio Board, member of the Honolulu Board of Water Supply, and the Consulting Engineer for the Governor. The Superintendent is appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate.

Bureau of Sight Conservation and Work with the Blind

The Bureau of Sight Conservation and Work with the Blind administers the program for blind persons in the Territory, including registering of the blind, vocational guidance, training and placement in employment. In addition, it undertakes other related activities such as a vision testing program in all public and private schools throughout the Territory, lectures and classes in sight conservation at the University of Hawaii, lighting surveys in public and private buildings, and locating and recommending visually handicapped students for enrollment in sight-saving classes and the Territorial School for Blind.

Services are furnished by the Bureau to approximately 600 blind persons and, annually, to an estimated 1,200 sight conservation cases. In addition, 97,000 school children are included in the annual vision testing program, with intensive follow-up for 8,000 school children.

Staffed with 22 professional, 20 clerical, and 4 administrative employees, the Bureau operates with a territorial office in Honolulu, and county offices in Honolulu; Wailuku, Maui; Lihue, Kauai; and Hilo, Hawaii. The latter office has branch offices in Kealakekua and Honokaa, Hawaii.

The Bureau functions under a territorial 1947-49 appropriation of \$237,777.00 of which \$21,438.00 is to be utilized in matching funds with federal grants for vocational rehabilitation. There is an estimated additional amount of \$42,000.00 available from federal grant for developing the program of vocational rehabilitation.

The Director of the Bureau, Mrs. Grace C. Hamman (see p. 97), who is appointed by the Governor, is also a member of the Territorial Civil Service System.

Office of the Tax Commissioner

The Tax Commissioner is charged with the administration of the following taxes: real property, net income, gross income (general excise), compensation-dividends, consumption, motor fuel, tobacco, liquor, public utility, bank excise, and unemployment compensation. Also included under the supervision of the Tax Commissioner is the Taxation Maps Bureau, which furnishes maps for property tax purposes. Collections during the first eleven months of 1947 totalled \$49,567,000.

The 262 employees of the Tax Office are employed both in Honolulu and in branch offices on the principal islands of the Territory as follows:

Oahu, 187; Hawaii, 37; Maui and Molokai, 24; Kauai, 14.

The total appropriation for the Tax Commissioner for the current biennium is \$2,049,228. Of this amount \$1,905,418 is for the Tax Commissioner's
Office, \$133,810 for the Taxation Maps Bureau, while the Boards of Review
and Tax Appeal Court, tribunals appointed by the Governor to hear litigation concerning property tax assessments, were appropriated \$10,000.

The Tax Commissioner is appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The present Tax Commissioner is Mr. William Borthwick (see p. 87).

Territorial Council on Veterans! Affairs

The 1945 Legislature created the Territorial Council to which veterans, their families and dependents may come for information, counsel, aid and assistance. In addition, it is directed to cooperate with other territorial departments and to coordinate all veterans' services so far as possible. In scope of activities, the Council corresponds to state veteran departments and veterans' service centers on the mainland.

The Council operates four veterans' service centers, one on each of the major islands. During the two and a half years since its inception, the Council's centers have had more than 60,000 veteran contacts and have furnished services of all descriptions for them and their families. It has a testing and a vocational-educational counselling service on a professional basis.

Of the Council's present employees, three are clerical, ten sub-professional, two professional, and two administrative. The appropriation of the Council for the current biennium is \$194,911.00.

The Chairman of the Council is Mr. Farrant L. Turner (see p.122), and Mr. Vincent Guntzer (see p. 97) is its Director.

Office of the Treasurer

The Treasury Department is directed by the Treasurer who is appointed by the Governor subject to the confirmation of the Senate of the Territory.

The Treasurer is also ex-officio the Bank Examiner, the Insurance Commissioner, the Fire Marshal, and the Commissioner of Securities. In addition, he is a member of the Farm Loan Board, a member of the Board of Disposal, a member of the Board of Trustees of the Employees' Retirement System and is Custodian of the funds and investments of the Employees' Retirement System.

. The Treasurer is responsible for the supervision of the financial affairs of the Territory, enforcing all revenue laws and being charged with the safe-keeping and disbursing of the public moneys.

As Bank Examiner, he is charged with the administration of laws regulating banks, trust companies, building and loan associations and industrial loans in the Territory.

The administration of laws relating to insurance companies, including qualification and regulation of companies, whether of domestic, foreign or alien nature, and the examining and licensing of all general agents, subagents and solicitors is the responsibility of the Insurance Commissioner.

Investigating the cause, origin and circumstances of fires; inspecting all property which might constitute a fire hazard; and making rules and regulations for the prevention of fires and the inspection of property fall within the purview of his duties as Fire Marshal.

Additionally, as Commissioner of Securities, he administers the laws on the regulation of sales of securities, which includes the licensing of dealers and salesmen and the registration of securities.

For the biennium 1947-49, the Treasury Department received an appropriation of \$2,956,817. There are 58 employees in the department, 44 in the clerical group, 12 in the inspectional group, and 2 in the custodial group.

The present Treasurer is Mr. William B. Brown (see p. 88).

Bureau of Conveyances

The chief function of the Bureau of Conveyances is the recording of deeds, mortgages and all similar instruments requiring recordation of filing, and the maintenance and preservation of such records for consultation by the public in title searching and land conveyancing.

There are two systems of land registration in Hawaii. Registered lands are held under the Land Court (Torrens) system and unregistered lands under the regular system. The Land Court system was organized in 1903 while the regular system records date back to 1845.

Indicative of the current volume of land registration is the fact that 20 applications were filed with the Land Court in the last biennium and 16 decrees issued. The Land Court had 54 applications pending December 31, 1946, involving land having an assessed value of \$914,156.86.

The Bureau of Conveyances maintains only one recording office located in Honolulu, and the outside islands forward their papers for recording. It is staffed with 35 employees. Appropriations for the Bureau for the current biennium total \$275,073.00 and revenues derived from recording and filing fees are estimated at \$226,200.00.

The Registrar, who heads the Bureau, is Mr. Mark N. Huckestein (see P. 101).

University of Hawaii

The University of Hawaii is under the general management and control of the Board of Regents, consisting of 9 members who serve without compensation. Seven members of the Board are appointed by the Governor, subject to the consent of the Territorial Senate, 1 is the Superintendent of Public Instruction, ex-officio, and 1 is the President of the University, serving ex-officio. The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Philip E. Spalding (see p. 120). The President of the University, who is appointed by the Board, is Mr. Gregg M. Sinclair (see p. 118).

The University plant consists of 18 major buildings, besides outlying experiment stations and miscellaneous structures. In addition to undergraduate work in the College of Arts and Sciences, College of Applied Sciences, Teachers College, and the College of Agriculture, graduate courses leading to advanced degrees may be taken in the Graduate Division. The Extension Division gives courses in rural Oahu and the other Islands, and the staff of the University has conducted summer courses at Guam. 3,837 students are currently enrolled at the University. An Agricultural Experiment Station and an Extension Service in Agriculture and Home Economics are maintained by the University in cooperation with the Federal Government. The Legislative Reference Bureau, a department of the University, furnishes research services to the territorial government.

The non-civil service instructional, research, extension and clinical staff of the University, including related services, now numbers 374 faculty members. In addition, there are 315 civil service employees. The University will have approximately \$6,172,599.00 on which to operate in the 1947-49 biennium; of this amount \$3,708,576.00 was appropriated by the territorial legislature.

<u>Territorial Civil Service Commission and</u> <u>Personnel Classification Board</u>

The Territorial Civil Service Commission and Personnel Classification
Board was established for the administration of a merit system of employment
for the government of the Territory. The functions of this agency include
almost every conceivable phase of personnel administration. The Commission
is empowered to make rules and regulations covering the selection, appointment, promotion, demotion, lay-off, transfer, termination of service and
leaves of absences of persons employed or to be employed in the civil service of the Territory.

The Personnel Classification Board is synonymous with the Civil Service Commission inasmuch as each member of the Board is also a commissioner. The Board functions as a typical classifying authority in determining jurisdiction, evaluating positions in terms of classification, entertaining appeals against its decisions or reviewing the allocation of positions to classification grades, determining salary status of incumbents filling positions, and administering a system of performance ratings in connection with withingrade salary raises.

At the present time there are approximately 4,500 territorial civil service employees. In 1947, 201 examinations were conducted to fill vacancies in the territorial civil service.

With an appropriation of \$132,626.00 for the biennium 1947-49, the Commission maintains a central office in Honolulu staffed with 15 employees, 4 of whom perform professional duties, 3 administrative, and 8 clerical.

Mr. Peter E. Chu (see p. 90) is the Chairman of the Commission, which is composed of three members who are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate, and serve without pay. The Director, Mr. Arthur A. Akina, Jr., (see p. 84) is an appointee of the Commission.

Employees! Retirement System

The Board of Trustees of the Employees' Retirement System is charged with the general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Employees' Retirement System. The Board consists of 5 trustees, 2 of whom are appointed by the Governor and 2 of whom are members of the system elected by their fellow members. The remaining member is the Treasurer, serving ex-officio (see p. 88). Trustees serve without compensation, but are reimbursed for expenses incurred and for any loss of salary or wages they may suffer.

The Territorial Retirement System is unique in that its coverage extends to county employees and teachers as well as territorial officers and employees. At the present time 16,300 officers and employees are included in the System.

The Employees' Retirement System has a staff of 24 employees. The 1947-49 appropriation for the management of the System is \$168,323.00.

Territorial Retirement and Pension Commission

The Commission was created in 1945 to collate information concerning the operation of all territorial and county retirement and pension systems. It is also studying methods for integrating these various systems into one, operated by the Territory and established upon a sound actuarial basis, and will recommend legislative measures to effectuate its conclusions.

The Commission consists of 3 members, appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. Mr. Frederick Ohrt (see p.112) serves as the Chairman of the Commission, and Dr. Arthur R. Keller (see p.104) is the Commission's Executive Secretary.

An appropriation of \$50,000.00 has been made to finance the studies of the Commission. A staff of two is maintained by the Commission, and the actuarial and statistical work is performed by a consulting actuary in New York.

Board of Examiners of Abstract Makers

The Board of Examiners of Abstract Makers is responsible for the examination of all applicants for licenses as makers of abstracts and certificates of titles in the Territory of Hawaii, including the authority to revoke and suspend such licenses.

Since the organization of the Board in 1925, 15 individuals have been licensed as makers of abstracts. Of this number, only 6 are now active in the Territory.

The present members of the Board are Judge Albert M. Cristy (see p. 91), Attorney General Walter D. Ackerman, Jr. (see p. 83), and Registrar of Conveyances Mark N. Huckestein (see p.101).

Territorial Board of Accountancy

The Territorial Board of Accountancy is charged with the responsibility of determining the qualifications of candidates for C.P.A. certificates, conducting examinations and issuing certificates. The Board is composed of 5 members who are appointed by the Governor and serve without compensation.

Mr. Harry A. Hanson (see p. 97) is the President of the Board.

There are 43 C.P.A. certificates outstanding in the Territory at the present time. During the calendar year 1947, 8 C.P.A. certificates were issued and no certificates were revoked.

The Board receives no appropriation but operates on examination fees collected from candidates for the C.P.A. certificate and annual fees from certificate holders.

Board of Barbers

The Board of Barbers was created in 1947 to regulate the practice of barbering and to give examinations for the issuance of certificates of registration to practice barbering. Certificates to conduct barber shops will also be granted by the Board.

About 1,500 applications for barber's certificates and 500 operator's certificates have already been received. It is anticipated that approximately 3,000 barbers will eventually apply and qualify for certificates. The Board will meet its expenses from the statutory fees received, which are estimated for the year 1948 to be about \$9,000.

The Board is composed of 5 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Mr. Jacob C. Ziegler (see p.125) is Chairman of the Board.

Territorial Boxing Commission

The Territorial Boxing Commission is vested with the management, control and jurisdiction over all boxing contests or exhibitions in the Territory of Hawaii. The Commission consists of 5 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. The Chairman of the Commission is Dr. Paul Withington (see p.125).

For the year 1947 the Commission granted the following number of licenses: promoters, 8; boxers, 178; seconds, 46; managers, 49; referees, 9; judges, 11; timers, 7; and physicians, 3.

The Commission operates with moneys in the Territorial Revolving Fund derived from the 5% tax levied on the gross receipts or proceeds of all boxing shows in the Territory. Other sources of income are license fees and fines. \$36,420.36 was collected during 1947 and the same amount is estimated to be collected during 1948.

The Administrative Office of the Commission, located in Honolulu, is staffed with 4 full-time employees. There are on part-time basis 4 assistant inspectors for Oahu, and 1 each for the Counties of Hawaii, Maui and Kauai where branch offices of the Commission have been established. The deputy commissioners of the Counties of Hawaii, Kauai, and Maui have supervision of all boxing shows in their respective counties.

Board of Chiropractor Examiners

The Board of Chiropractor Examiners is comprised of three members appointed by the Governor for three-year terms, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Members receive no compensation.

Applicants for licenses to practice chiropractic in the Territory are examined by the Board. Upon the recommendation of the Board, the Board of Health issues licenses. There are 6 licensed chiropractors currently practicing in the Territory, all in Honolulu. No license has either been granted or revoked during 1947.

Dr. James J. Andrade (see p. 84) is President of the Board of Chiropractor Examiners.

Board of Dental Examiners

The Board of Dental Examiners consists of five practicing dentists.

All members are appointed by the Governor, subject to Senate confirmation,
and serve for a term of three years without compensation. The Board
examines all candidates for licenses to practice as dentist or dental
hygienist. The Board may also suspend or revoke such licenses.

Annual registration fees and fees received by the Board from applicants for dentist's and dental hygienist's licenses are used to defray the Board's expenses. During 1947 approximately \$1,400.00 was received by the Board in the form of examination and annual registration fees.

There are now 258 licensed dentists in the Territory, of whom 253 are engaged in active practice. 57 persons are licensed as dental hygienists. During 1947, 12 new licenses to practice dentistry were issued and none revoked.

The President of the Board of Dental Examiners is Dr. H. L. Houvener (see p.100).

Board of Examiners of Applicants for License to Practice Embalming and Funeral Directing

The Board of Examiners of Applicants for License to Practice Embalming and Funeral Directing consists of four practicing morticians who are appointed by the President of the Board of Health upon the recommendation of the Vital Records Administrator. Each member serves four years without compensation.

The Board's chief function is the conducting of examinations and screening qualifications of applicants desiring to practice embalming and funeral directing in the Territory. Licenses are granted by the Board of Health after recommendation by the Board of Examiners.

On July 1, 1947, the territorial licenses of 14 embalmers and 24 funeral directors were renewed for the fiscal year. In addition, 9 apprentice certificates were renewed for the same period.

Mr. Herman Hosoi (see p.100) is the Chairman of the Board.

Board of Registration for Professional Engineers, Architects and Surveyors

The Board of Registration for Professional Engineers, Architects and Surveyors is composed of 9 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. The Board is charged with the responsibility of examining and registering applicants for certificates as engineers, architects, and surveyors. Members of the Board serve without compensation. Mr. Simes T. Hoyt (see p. 101) is serving as Chairman of the Board.

Since its organization in 1923, the Board has considered 505 applications for certification. As of December 31, 1947, there were 388 registrations in effect and in good standing, this total including residents and non-residents of the Territory of Hawaii. Of this number, 204 were engineers, 46 engineers-land surveyors, 7 engineers-architects, 69 architects, and 62 land surveyors. There were 54 non-residents holding territorial certificates, 39 being engineers and 15 architects.

Board of Hairdressers, Cosmeticians and Cosmetologists

The Board of Hairdressers, Cosmeticians and Cosmetologists examines applicants for certificates to practice in the Territory. It also conducts annual inspections of all beauty shops and monthly inspections of all cosmetology schools. The three members of the Board, appointed by the Governor with the consent of the Territorial Senate, serve for a period of two years without compensation. Mrs. Emilye D. Fink is now serving as President of the Board.

During the year 1947 there were 116 applicants, 48 of whom were granted certificates to practice in the Territory. At present, there is a total of 1,372 licensed beauty operators and 216 licensed beauty shop owners, the latter number being distributed as follows: Honolulu, 152; Maui, 20; Hawaii, 25; Kauai, 15; Molokai, 3; and Lanai, 1.

Board of Massage

Established in 1947 for the purpose of regulating the practice of massage in the Territory, the Board of Massage is in its first fiscal year of operation. It has been charged with the duties of receiving applications for certificates, conducting examinations, issuing certificates, inspecting massage establishments, and prosecuting infractions of law governing massage business.

To date there are 266 registered masseurs in the Territory, with 14 pending examinations for registration. The Board relies solely upon registration and other fees to defray its expenses in carrying out its work.

The three members of the Board of Massage are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. They serve without compensation and personally carry on all field work necessary in the Territory. President of the Board is Mr. J. W. Aoki (see p. 85).

Board of Medical Examiners

The Board of Medical Examiners consists of three members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. All members serve for three years without compensation. Applicants for licenses to practice medicine in the Territory are examined by the Board, which checks their credentials, conducts the examinations, and makes recommendations to the Board of Health. The licenses are issued by the latter agency.

There are 461 doctors now licensed to practice medicine in the Territory. In the last three years, 68 new licenses were granted, with over half being issued in 1947. At its next meeting in January, 1948, the Board will examine 18 applicants for medical licenses.

Dr. Douglas B. Bell (see p. 85) is the Chairman of the Board.

Motor Vehicle Dealers' and Salesmen's Licensing Board

The Motor Vehicle Dealers and Salesmen's Licensing Board for Oahu consists of five members, all appointed for two-year terms by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Similar Boards are also authorized for other counties, but these Boards consist of three members. Each Board is charged with the responsibility of licensing persons desiring to engage in the sale of motor vehicles, either as dealers or as salesmen.

For the current year in Oahu, 18 dealers have renewed their licenses and approximately 250 used car dealers have been approved or are in the process of submitting applications. Of this latter group, about 150 were licensed for the first time during 1947. Approximately 100 persons actively engaged as automobile salesmen are licensed in Oahu.

License fees collected by each county from the dealers and salesmen are placed in a fund out of which expenses of the Board in that county are paid.

The Chairman of the Oahu Board is Mr. Harry S. Ozaki (see p.113).

Board of Examiners in Naturopathy

The Board of Examiners in Naturopathy consists of three members who serve for a term of 4 years without compensation. Members of the Board are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory.

The Board checks the credentials of applicants desiring to practice naturopathy in the Territory and conducts examinations for such applicants.

The licenses are granted by the Board of Health upon certification by the Board of Examiners in Naturopathy.

There are now 32 licensed and practicing naturopathic physicians in the Territory. All are members of the Naturopathic Physicians' Association of Hawaii. Five applicants will take their examinations in February, 1948.

The President of the Board is Dr. Alexander K. Kaonohi (see p.103).

Board of Licensing of Nurses

The Territorial Board of Licensing of Nurses, comprised of four licensed nurses and one licensed physician appointed by the Governor, has been established for the purposes of examining and approving curricula and standards for schools and courses preparing persons for licensing both as professional and practical nurses; examining and determining qualifications of applicants for licenses as professional and practical nurses; and issuing, renewing, and revoking certificates of license.

Expenses of the Board are met through money received from nurses' license and registration fees. There are 3 employees--one half-time administrative secretary, a licensed registered nurse, and one full-time clerk. The activities of the Board are territory-wide, the central office of the Board being located in Honolulu.

To date, 479 licenses have been granted to professional nurses, 490 to practical nurses. There have been 1,263 re-registrations of professional nurses while re-registration for practical nurses only began in December, 1946. No licenses have as yet been revoked by the Board.

The members of the Board serve without compensation for a term of five years. After 1952 the membership will be five licensed registered nurses. The present Chairman of the Board for Licensing of Nurses is Miss Virginia Jones (see p. 102).

Board of Optometry

The Board of Optometry has been established for the examining and licensing of optometrists. There are now 27 licensed optometrists in the Territory, 2 having passed their examinations and having been licensed for the first time in 1947.

The Board maintains no paid staff. Its expenses are met solely from license and examination fees. All of its activities are directed from its office in Honolulu.

There are three members of the Board, each appointed for a three-year term by the Governor with the consent of the Senate of the Territory and serving without compensation. Dr. Paul W. Rushforth (see p. 117) is Fresident of the Board.

Board of Osteopathic Examiners

The Board of Osteopathic Examiners is composed of three members, each appointed by the Governor for a term of three years, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. All members serve without pay. The Board examines all applicants for licenses to practice as osteopathic physicians, or as osteopathic physicians and surgeons, and reports its findings to the Board of Health. The latter agency issues osteopathic licenses upon the recommendation of the Board of Osteopathic Examiners.

Since the creation of the Board in 1921, thirty-nine licenses have been issued to practice osteopathy. During 1947, 12 osteopathic physicians and surgeons have been actively engaged in practice. Five new licenses were issued during 1946-47.

Dr. Bernice L. Gier (see p. 94) is the President of the Board.

Board of Pharmacy

The Board of Pharmacy is responsible for the examination and registration of all pharmacists in the Territory. It receives no appropriation, the fees collected from license renewals, temporary certificates and examinations being sufficient to meet its expenses.

There are three members on the Board, all licensed pharmacists, who are appointed by the Governor for two-year terms, subject to confirmation by the Senate. All serve without compensation.

Outstanding active licenses in the Territory now number 161, including 14 new registrations for pharmacist's licenses in 1947. The Board may also revoke licenses but had no occasion to exercise this power.

The Chairman of the Board of Pharmacy is Mr. Edward B. Weidknecht (see p.123).

Board of Photography

In Hawaii, provision is made for certification of professional photographers by the Board of Photography. The Board is composed of 5 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Mr. J. A. Williams is Chairman of the Board at the present time.

On January 1, 1948, there were 18 certified professional photographers. The expenses of the Board, which are nominal, are paid from the examination and certification fees.

Public Utilities Commission

The Public Utilities Commission is a quasi-judicial body composed of five commissioners, two from the City and County of Honolulu, one from Hawaii, one from Maui and one from Kauai, all appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the Territorial Senate. One of the commissioners from the City and County of Honolulu serves as Chairman. Mr. James M. O'Dowda (see p.112) is now the Commission's Acting Chairman.

The Commission has general supervision over all public utilities doing business in the Territory under the powers conferred upon it by law. With its central office in Honolulu and field activities carried on by the commissioners on each of the outside islands, the Commission regulates twelve (12) electric, two (2) gas, one (1) communications, fourteen (14) transportation and two (2) miscellaneous utilities. The communications utility referred to has branches on all of the islands.

The Commission operates on statutory fees from the various public utilities, current fees approximating \$48,000.00 per annum. It has a staff of eleven employees, two professional, two accounting, one administrative, one investigating, and five clerical.

Real Estate License Commission

The Real Estate License Commission is charged with the licensing of real estate brokers and salesmen who engage in the sale of real estate. Its functions include the qualifying of applicants by giving written examinations and investigating their business and character references; enforcing specific minimum requirements as to the method of advertising, the forming and operation of real estate partnerships and corporations, and the business procedures used by brokers and salesmen; and investigating and holding hearings on infractions of territorial laws and rules and regulations pertaining to the Commission.

All salaries and expenses of the Commission are paid out of the Commission's special fund derived from application, license and renewal fees required of all applicants, brokers, and salesmen in the Territory. For the past biennium, 1945-47, a total of \$7,418.00 was received from application, license and renewal fees.

267 real estate brokers and 213 real estate salesmen were licensed as of December, 1947. During the year 1947, there were 227 applicants, 67 for brokers' licenses and 160 for salesmen's licenses. During the same period 88 new licenses were issued, 21 to brokers and 67 to salesmen.

The Commission consists of three members appointed by the Governor for three-year terms, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. Members serve without compensation. The Commission's administrative staff consists of one Executive Secretary, one investigator, and one stenographer. The Chairman of the Commission is Mr. Edward A. Bolles (see p. 86).

Board of Veterinary Examiners

The Board of Veterinary Examiners examines candidates for licenses to practice veterinary medicine, surgery and dentistry in the Territory and makes recommendations to the Board of Health. The latter agency is charged with the granting of the licenses.

There are now 26 licenses in effect in the Territory, only six licenses having been granted since January, 1942. There are at present 3 applicants for licenses, and the examinations for them will be conducted in 1948.

The three members of the Board are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory, and serve without compensation. The Board member located in Honolulu is Dr. Ernest H. Willers (see p.124).

CITY AND COUNTY DEPARTMENTS, AGENCIES AND OFFICES

District Courts

There are 10 District Magistrates in the First Judicial Circuit, the Circuit which includes the City and County of Honolulu. Four Magistrates serve in the area designated as the City of Honolulu, and 5 in rural Oahu. There is also 1 Magistrate in the First Judicial Circuit who serves in the County of Kalawao on the Island of Molokai, where the leper settlement is located. District Magistrate's are appointed by the Chief Justice of the Territorial Supreme Court for two-year terms.

The jurisdiction of District Courts compares to that of Justice of the Peace courts on the mainland. They have jurisdiction over all civil actions at law when damages do not exceed \$50.00, and concurrent jurisdiction with the Circuit Court when they do not exceed \$500.00. They also have jurisdiction over criminal offenses punishable by fine or by imprisonment not exceeding one year. In addition, they have power to administer oaths, perpetuate testimony, enforce judgments, and punish for contempt.

In the calendar year 1946, 92,418 cases were disposed of in the District Courts on Oahu. The vast majority of these cases were heard by the Magistrates serving in the City of Honolulu.

The appropriation for the District Courts on Oahu for the calendar year 1947 was \$125,657.00. Twenty-four employees comprise the staff of the District Courts.

Board of Supervisors

The Board of Supervisors of the City and County of Honolulu is composed of 7 members, elected at large for two-year terms. The Mayor is presiding officer of the Board of Supervisors.

The legislative power of the City and County is vested in the Board of Supervisors. Within the limits prescribed by the territorial legislature, the Board is authorized to legislate for the health, safety and welfare of the people of the City and County and to adopt general policies for the conducting of the public affairs of the City and County.

In the year 1947, 3,535 communications (234 messages from the Mayor, 2,256 departmental communications, 956 miscellaneous communications, and 89 petitions) were received by the Board. In the same period it considered 3,514 committee reports and adopted 716 resolutions. 76 bills were presented and acted upon, of which 50 became ordinances. 36 contracts were submitted to the Board, of which 33 contracts were approved by the Board totaling \$2,128,446.00. In 1947, 57 meetings were held by the Board of Supervisors.

Office of the Mayor

The Mayor of the City and County of Honolulu is an elected official, serving for a two-year term. The present incumbent is Mr. John H. Wilson (see p.124).

The Mayor is the chief executive officer of the City and County, and is charged with the responsibility of seeing that the laws of the Territory and ordinances of the City and County are observed and enforced. He has general supervision over all the departments and public institutions of the City and County. As Mayor, he is also the presiding officer of the Board of Supervisors, and has a veto power over ordinances and resolutions adopted by the Board.

There are 5 employees in the Office of the Mayor. \$40,587.00 was appropriated for the Office of the Mayor for the calendar year 1947.

Office of the Auditor

The Auditor of the City and County is elected for a term of two years.

The present incumbent is Mr. Leonard K. Fong (see p. 93).

All City and County warrants are drawn by the Auditor after pre-audit and written approval by the Controller. The Auditor monthly examines the books of the Treasurer, and at least once each calendar year audits the accounts of all City and County boards, officers and employees charged with the custody, collection or disbursement of funds. Audit reports are submitted to the Mayor, Board of Supervisors, and Controller for necessary action. In addition, the Auditor is required to examine the accounting procedures followed by the agencies audited, and to recommend and install changes necessary to promote better accounting control.

In calendar year 1947, about 135,000 warrants were drawn by the Office of the Auditor, totalling approximately \$36,000,000.00. In the same period 27 reports were issued.

The appropriation to the Office of the Auditor for the calendar year 1947 was \$78,219.98. The staff of the Office of the Auditor consists of 18 employees.

Department of Buildings

The functions of the Department of Buildings of the City and County are divided into two divisions: the Division of Public Buildings, and the Division of Building Inspection. The Department is headed by the Superintendent of Buildings, who is Mr. Lyman H. Bigelow (see p. 86).

The Division of Public Buildings prepares specifications and plans for, and constructs the buildings of the City and County. It is also responsible for their repair and maintenance. Included among these buildings are 63 separate school plants on Oahu, with approximately 700 buildings, covering about 500 acres of land, and having an inventory value of \$12,000,000.00. The Division is also charged with the issuance of permits for the use of school areas after school hours for meetings and other similar purposes.

Building, electrical, plumbing and gas permits are issued by the Division of Building Inspection. The Division also inspects all construction covered by the permits as well as enforcing the Building, Plumbing and Electrical Codes and investigating all complaints of alleged violations of the Codes.

The Division of Building Inspection supervises the registration and examination of all elevators and elevator operators, inspecting all elevators quarterly. This Division also supervises the registration of all motion picture operators and supervising electricians who have successfully passed the examinations conducted by the Board of Electrical Examiners and all journeymen and master plumbers who have similarly passed the examinations of the Board of Plumbing Examiners. Both Boards, appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors, are adjuncts of the Department. The Superintendent of Buildings is ex-officio Chairman of the Board of Electrical Examiners and a member of the Board of Plumbing Examiners. The Chairman of the latter Board is Mr. Louis Fernandez (see p. 93).

The Department at present has 176 employees, the Division of Public Buildings accounting for 153. For calendar year 1947, \$2,125,000.00 was appropriated for the Department, this amount including \$1,500,000.00 for schools. Bond issues to be floated for schools in 1948 will total \$4,008,000.00.

<u>Civil Service Commission and</u> <u>Personnel Classification Board</u>

The Civil Service Commission and Personnel Classification Board administers a merit system for the City and County of Honolulu. The functions of this agency include almost every conceivable phase of personnel administration whereby both a fair and equal opportunity for public service is guaranteed all citizens and employees of character and capacity will be assured of permanent tenure in public service.

The Personnel Classification Board is synonymous with the Civil Service Commission as each member of the Board is also a commissioner. The Board functions as a typical classifying authority in determining jurisdiction, evaluating positions in terms of classification, entertaining appeals against its decisions or reviewing the allocation of positions to classification grades, determining salary status of incumbents filling positions, and administering a system of performance ratings in connection with within-grade salary raises.

There are 3,943 positions established in the City and County government. In 1947, 126 examinations were given to approximately 4,000 applicants.

The Commission is composed of 3 members who are appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors. The Director, Mr. D. Ransom Sherretz (see p. 118) is an appointee of the Commission. The Commission has 9 employees, all in the clerical and administrative service. For the calendar year 1947, it operated on an appropriation of \$32,199.00.

Office of the Clerk

The City and County Clerk is elected for a two-year term. The present incumbent is Mr. Leon K. Sterling, Sr. (see p. 120).

The City and County Clerk is the ex-officio Clerk of the Board of Supervisors. As such he attends all meetings and records all proceedings of the Board of Supervisors.

The City Clerk's duties also relate to registration of voters and the conducting of elections. He examines electors of the City and County desiring to register; prepares and issues nomination papers, election ballots, etc.; and tabulates the results of all primary elections in the City and County and all City and County general elections.

The administration of the City and County Pension Board and the Board of Trustees of the Pension Fund for Policemen, Firemen and Bandsmen is handled entirely by the Office of the City and County Clerk. The City and County Clerk is ex-officio Secretary of both Boards, and meetings are called as the need arises; all clerical work, calculation of pensions and research work is conducted by the Office of the City and County Clerk, and the information submitted to the Boards upon which pension awards are made by the Board. In the year 1947, \$19,384 was paid out in pensions by the City and County Pension Board, and payments to pensioners, widows and other beneficiaries during the same period by the Pension Fund for Policemen, Firemen and Bandsmen totaled \$224,215.00. In addition, legislative pensions paid totaled \$48,469.00.

The permanent staff of the Office of the City and County Clerk is now approximately 14 persons, and 10 additional temporary employees will be added to perform election duties. The appropriation to the Office for the calendar year 1947 was \$58,638.00.

Office of the Controller

The Controller of the City and County is appointed by the Mayor, subject to confirmation by the Board of Supervisors. He serves as financial adviser to the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors. The present Controller is Mr. Paul K. Keppeler (see p.105).

The Office of the Controller has general supervision over all budgeting, financial reporting, accounting and purchasing for the City and County. It pre-audits all claims for services, supplies and other City and County obligations. The Office is also charged with the conducting of investigations of the various City and County departments and agencies for the purpose of promoting economy and standards of efficiency. Finally, the Controller assists the Mayor in the preparation of the annual City and County Budget, including preparation of the annual appropriation ordinance and supplements.

The calendar year 1947 appropriation for the Office of the Controller was \$95,257.00. The staff consists of 21 employees.

Fire Department

The Fire Department of the City and County of Honolulu furnishes fire protection to both rural Oahu and the urban portion of the City and County through 20 fire stations located strategically throughout the Island. The equipment of the Department is divided among 21 companies. In addition to double combination hose wagons, double combination pumping engines and an aerial ladder truck, the companies are equipped with modern fire-fighting tools and appliances as well as equipment essential to salvage work. Besides fighting fire, the Fire Department is called upon to perform related services contributing to the public safety. The Department answered approximately 1,200 calls in the calendar year 1947.

The Fire Department is under the supervision and control of the Chief Engineer, who is appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors. The present Chief Engineer is Mr. H. A. Smith (see p. 119).

Total personnel of the Fire Department numbers 273 employees. The appropriation to the Department for calendar year 1947 was \$1,188,203.90.

Health Department

The Health Department maintains an emergency first aid and ambulance service with a station in the City of Honolulu, a branch in Kaneohe, and contemplates establishing a second branch in Wahiawa. In addition, it operates an indigent medical out-patient service and provision is made for indigent hospitalization, indigent dental service and indigent burial service. A chronic and convalescent in-patient service is also maintained at Maluhia Home.

The Department is charged with the responsibility of examination for the police, courts and other agencies of victims and perpetrators of assaults, sex offenses and of other offenses requiring medical examination and testimony, and of handicapped applicants for motor vehicle driver's licenses. The mentally ill, alcoholic, drug addict and mentally deficient are examined for treatment and referral to the proper agency for observation and treatment. Post mortem examinations are conducted for the Coroner.

Applicants for employment with the City and County are examined by the staff of the Department. City and County employees injured in the course of their employment may receive medical care from the Department. In addition, City and County employees are examined for illness and recovery from illness certification as well as when applying for City and County pensions or territorial pensions.

The Department of Health is under the supervision of the City and County Physician, who is Dr. Thomas Mossman (see p. 111). At present the staff consists of 145 employees, the professional staff comprised of 20 doctors, 1 dentist, 15 graduate nurses, 1 dietician, 1 dental assistant, 20 emergency attendants, 2 laboratory technicians, and 1 social worker. The calender year 1947 appropriation for the Health Department, including the Maluhia Home, was \$439,075.00.

Office of the City and County Attorney

The City and County Attorney is the legal adviser of the Mayor, Board of Supervisors, and City and County officers, boards and commissions. The City and County Attorney is appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors, and by law is a deputy of the Territorial Attorney General. The present incumbent is Mr. Wilford D. Godbold (see p. 95).

The City and County Attorney or his deputies are required to attend all courts in the City and County, conduct all civil cases in which the City and County is interested, and defend all suits brought against the City and County. On behalf of the people he prosecutes actions for the recovery of debts, fines, penalties, forfeitures and other claims accruing to the Territory or the City and County. He is also required to institute proceedings on behalf of the Territory to obtain support for children born out of wedlock and proceedings to obtain support for aged persons.

The Office of the City and County Attorney is staffed by 7 deputies, 2 law clerks, and 4 employees performing stenographic-clerical duties.

The appropriation for the calender year 1947 was \$79,000.00.

Office of the Public Prosecutor

On behalf of the people of the Territory, the City and County Prosecutor conducts all prosecutions in the City and County courts for offenses against the laws of the Territory and City and County ordinances. He also is required to institute, or cause the institution of proceedings for the arrest of persons suspected of committing crimes, draws all indictments, and attends and advises the grand jury. In 1947, approximately 890 cases were disposed of before the Circuit Courts.

The City and County Prosecutor is appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors, and by law is a deputy of the Territorial Attorney General. The position of Public Prosecutor is at present vacant. The staff of the Public Prosecutor consists of 18 permanent employees. The appropriation for the calendar year 1947 was \$109,456.00.

Liquor Commission

The Liquor Commission of the City and County of Honolulu is charged with the control, supervision, and regulation of the manufacture, importation and sale of liquor, including the granting of licenses for such activities within the City and County of Honolulu. The 5 members of the Commission are appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory.

During the year 1947 the Commission granted a total number of 484 licenses distributed as follows: agents, 16; manufacturers, 5; dispensers, 193; retailers, 235; and wholesalers, 35. In addition, 1 vessel license was granted. During the same period, 13 citations were issued by the Commission, 8 being suspensions, 2 dismissals, 2 reprimands, and 1 revocation.

The Commission operates on funds received for license fees. For the year 1947 the total receipts were \$263,175.00. In charge of the office of the Commission is its Executive Secretary, Mr. Henry N. Thompson (see p.121), who supervises the work of 16 employees, 12 of whom are engaged in enforcement activities.

City Planning Commission

The City Planning Commission of the City and County is composed of 9 members appointed by the Mayor, with the approval of the Board of Supervisors. The Executive Secretary of the Commission, who is an appointee of the Commission, is Mr. George K. Houghtailing (see p. 100); he also serves as Engineer for the Commission.

The Commission is charged with the responsibility of adopting a master plan of the City and County. It considers all applications for approval of subdivisions, and issues variance permits and proposes changes in the zoning regulations, subject to modification or disapproval by the Board of Supervisors. As a matter of course it checks building permits to insure their compliance with applicable zoning restrictions. The Commission meets at least once a week throughout the year.

In calendar year 1947, the Commission submitted 37 city planning resolutions and 21 variance requests to the Board of Supervisors for enactment. In 1946, 490 subdivision applications were received by the Commission; comparable information for 1947 has not yet been completed, but preliminary estimates place the applications at a higher figure.

The staff of the City Planning Commission consists of 14 employees, all classified as professional. The Commission's appropriation for the calendar year 1947 was \$58,994.00.

Honolulu Police Department

The activities of the Police Department of the City and County of Honolulu are governed by a Commission consisting of 5 members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Senate of the Territory. The Chief of Police, Mr. William Hoopai (see p. 99), is appointed by the Commission and serves at its pleasure.

For the first 10 months in 1947, there were 4,000 actual major offenses reported to the police. Offenses against property, including robbery, burglary, larceny and auto theft, as a group, showed a net increase of 351 or 10.1% over the corresponding period in 1946. On the other hand, offenses against the person, including murder, manslaughter, rape and aggravated assault, as a group, showed a net decrease of 37 or 26.2%.

A total of 1,460 of these major offenses were cleared. Of the total, juveniles were considered responsible for 748 offenses or 51.2%, adults considered responsible for 598 offenses or 41%, Army personnel for 51 offenses or 3.5%, and Navy personnel considered responsible for the balance of 63 offenses or 4.3%. There were 1,662 arrests for these offenses and convictions of 92% of the offenders were obtained.

In the Class II Offenses, minor offenses, there was a total of 14,721 offenses reported for the first 10 months of 1947. The percentage clearance was 88.2%. 35,797 persons were arrested for these minor offenses and 70.2% of those arrested were convicted.

There are 440 persons employed by the Honolulu Police Department, 385 of whom are police officers and 55 civilian employees. The amount of \$1,722,476.33 was authorized for expenditure by the Police Department for the calendar year 1947.

Board of Public Parks and Recreation

The Board of Public Parks and Recreation of the City and County is composed of 9 members, 8 of whom are appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors. The Superintendent of Public Instruction of the Territory, or a person designated by him, is also ex-officio a member of the Park Board. Mr. J. E. Lyons (see p. 108) serves as the Superintendent of the Board of Public Parks and Recreation, being an appointee of the Park Board.

With only a few exceptions, all public parks and recreation grounds in the City and County are under the control and management of the Park Board. The Board maintains 112 parks and beach areas, with an area of approximately 2,000 acres. It also operates 38 recreation areas, with 75 professional leaders supervising play and recreation programs.

The staff of the Board at present consists of 253 employees. Of this number 231 are custodial, including 68 supervisors and directors. \$850,000.00 has been appropriated for maintenance and operation in the calendar year 1948. In addition, \$600,000.00 has been appropriated for development, and \$40,000.00 will be realized from concessions, rentals, etc. A bond issue of \$2,300,000.00 will also be available for special acquisition and development.

Department of Public Works

The activities of the Department of Public Works of the City and County of Honolulu are carried on by the work of 8 divisions under the direction of the Chief Engineer, Mr. Karl A. Sinclair (see p.119). The Chief Engineer is appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors.

The services rendered by the Department include the preparation of plans and specifications for all new City and County public works projects, maintenance of approximately 500 miles of urban and rural roads, collection and disposal of all garbage and rubbish, operation and maintenance of the Suburban Water System, maintenance of a sewerage system, and maintenance of automotive equipment service for all City and County departments. There are approximately 900 employees in the Department performing these services.

During the calendar year 1947 the Bureau of Plans completed 82%. or \$2,494,151.00, of the contract work for which it is responsible. With funds provided by the 1947 Territorial Legislature, 35 miles of street was resurfaced under contract, and in addition, the Division of Road Maintenance resurfaced 10 miles of streets with City and County forces and expended \$700,000.00 on other allied projects. The Division of Refuse Collection and Disposal completed the establishment of 2 new incinerators in 1946, thus satisfactorily taking care of the problem of proper garbage disposal; in 1947 the Division turned its attention to improvement in garbage collection and removal techniques. The rural water development project at Kahaluu, capable of supplying 3 million gallons of water daily, two wells at Aiea with a yield of 1 million gallons daily, and the laying of additional water mains at several places on Oahu were completed in 1947 by the Division of Rural Water Works; work on other projects being undertaken, including the development tunnel at Waisnae, will be continued in 1948. The work of the Division of Traffic Safety is commented upon under the Traffic Safety Commission (see p. 80). Five main sewer systems were completed for the Division of Sewerage in 1947, and the necessary preliminary steps have been taken for the institution of the comprehensive sewer project which is estimated for final completion during the next 9 years at a cost of \$20,000,000.00. During 1947 the Division of Automotive Equipment Service added new and improved road construction equipment and additional automotive street sweepers as well as maintained all City and County automobiles, trucks and construction equipment operated from a central pool under the Division.

Rent Control Commission

The Rent Control Commission consists of 5 members appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors. The Administrator of the Commission, Mr. William E. Miles (see p.110) is an appointee of the Board.

Pursuant to City and County Ordinance, maximum rents and minimum service standards for all housing accommodations have been fixed as of May 27, 1941. Adjustments of rents and setting of rents for properties not rented on that date may be accomplished only by petition to the Commission. 12,165 petitions were received in 1947, practically all for adjustment of rents. All were acted upon by the staff of the Commission, with the exception of 106 which were canceled at the request of the petitioners and 2 which were denied. Approximately 160 violations were referred for prosecution in the same period. In 1947 the Commission held 29 meetings of which 12 were regular monthly meetings, and the balance were called for the hearing of appeals. The Commission was requested to review 144 administrative orders.

In the calendar year 1947, \$72,877.00 was appropriated for the Commission. The staff of the Commission now consists of 25 compensated employees.

Office of the Sheriff

The Sheriff is one of the elective officers of the City and County of Honolulu, the incumbent being Mr. Duke P. Kahanamoku (see p. 102).

The Sheriff is charged with the care and maintenance of prisoners committed to the Honolulu Jail. As the Sheriff also serves ex-officio as City and County Coroner, he has the responsibility of making the necessary investigations on all coronatorial deaths. Members of the Sheriff's staff attend all Circuit Courts and other courts held within the City and County and serve all processes and notices, except in criminal proceedings, as ordered. The Office of the Sheriff also inspects and certifies all commercial scales and measuring equipment, and checks and registers all livestock brands.

To carry out these requirements, the Office of the Sheriff is staffed by 42 civil service employees. Thirty-two are at the Honolulu Jail, 4 with the Coroner Division, 3 court officers, and 3 performing administrative duties. There are, in addition, 2 special service officers. The appropriation for the calendar year 1947 was \$149,439.00.

Traffic Safety Commission

The Traffic Safety Commission consists of representatives from the Chief Engineer's Office, the City and County Attorney's Office, other City and County officers, and representatives of unofficial bodies as determined by the Mayor. A Division of Traffic Safety of the Department of Public Works, headed by a professional traffic engineer, executes the recommendations of the Commission after they are approved by the Board of Supervisors. The Chairman of the Commission is appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Board of Supervisors; the present Chairman is Mr. George K. Houghtailing (see p. 100).

The Commission coordinates traffic activities and conducts an educational campaign with relation to traffic matters. It receives complaints and recommends ways of improving traffic safety conditions. The Board of Supervisors has delegated to it responsibility for recommending the locating and marking of bus stops, safety stops, parking zones, no-parking zones, safety zones, loading zones, quiet zones, safety lanes, traffic lanes, traffic lights and their adjustment, and for making suggestions with regard to other similar minor matters of traffic regulation.

The appropriation to the Commission for the calendar year 1947 was \$9,929.00 and the appropriation of the Division of Traffic Safety for the same period was \$178,580.00. There are 35 persons on the combined staffs of the Commission and the Division of Traffic Safety.

Office of the Treasurer

The Treasurer is one of the elected officers of the City and County of Honolulu. The present incumbent of the office is Mr. William Chung-Hoon, Jr. (see p. 90).

The Office of the Treasurer receives all departmental collections and all moneys directed by law to be paid to the Treasurer, and is charged with the responsibility of safely keeping and disbursing City and County funds. The Treasurer also serves as collector of assessments against property owners of all special improvement districts sponsored by the City and County. Securities and guaranties for the protection of the City and County are deposited in the Office of the Treasurer.

The Treasurer is required to issue and sell all City and County bonds and to redeem them and their interest coupons, including general obligation bonds, revenue bonds and improvement district bonds.

Finally, the Office of the Treasurer issues licenses and collects various license fees and taxes. The Treasurer is required to register all types of vehicles, totaling approximately 76,000 vehicles a year, collect vehicle weight taxes, and handle about 36,000 transfers of vehicle titles annually. There are also issued annually by the Treasurer an estimated 12,000 business licenses, 10,000 bicycle licenses and 25,000 dog licenses.

The Office of the Treasurer is staffed by 28 employees. The appropriation for the calendar 1947 was \$130,397.00.

Board of Water Supply

Honolulu's publicly owned municipal water system is operated under the general direction of the Board of Water Supply, a semi-autonomous commission of 7 members, 5 of whom are appointed by the Mayor, with the approval of the Board of Supervisors, and 2 of whom, the Territorial Superintendent of Public Works and the Chief Engineer, City and County Department of Public Works, are ex-officio members, all serving without pay. The Board's chief executive officer, Mr. Frederick Ohrt (see p. 112) serves as the Manager and Chief Engineer.

Now representing an investment of more than \$18,000,000.00, Honolulu's municipal water system includes 25 deep artesian wells, 3 steam pumping stations, 3 underground electric pumping stations, 9 electrically operated booster pumping stations, 26 equalizing reservoirs with a total capacity of more than twenty million gallons, 2 aerators, more than 350 miles of pipelines, almost 2,500 fire hydrants, and approximately 30,000 meters.

The Board has authority to fix water rates and to authorize bond issues to finance plant expansion. The water system operates on a self-supporting basis and receives nothing from general tax funds. 387 persons are on the Board's payroll, all of whom, with the exception of the Board's chief executive officer, are under City and County civil service regulations. Total expenditures for the calendar year 1947 will be approximately \$2,700,000.00.

The rural districts of the Island of Oahu, outside of the City of Honolulu, are served by the Suburban Water System, which is under the direct control of the City and County government and entirely separate and distinct from the operations of the Board of Water Supply.

$\underline{\mathtt{B}} \ \underline{\mathtt{I}} \ \underline{\mathtt{O}} \ \underline{\mathtt{G}} \ \underline{\mathtt{R}} \ \underline{\mathtt{A}} \ \underline{\mathtt{P}} \ \underline{\mathtt{H}} \ \underline{\mathtt{I}} \ \underline{\mathtt{C}} \ \underline{\mathtt{A}} \ \underline{\mathtt{L}} \qquad \underline{\mathtt{D}} \ \underline{\mathtt{A}} \ \underline{\mathtt{T}} \ \underline{\mathtt{A}}$

ACKERMAN, Walter D., Jr. Attorney General of Territory of Hawaii (pp. 7, 40).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., March 17, 1913.

Attended Punahou Academy, Honolulu, 1930; Stanford University, A.B., 1936; Stanford University, LL.B., 1939.

Private practice of law, 1939-1940; Deputy Attorney General, Territory of Hawaii, 1940-1943; Treasurer, Insurance Commissioner, Bank Examiner, Territory of Hawaii, 1943-1947; Attorney General, Territory of Hawaii, 1947 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii.

AFAT, Alfred Apaka
Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii.

Manager, Molokai Trading Company; president and manager of contracting company; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1941 to date.

AGUIAR, George R. Representative, 6th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p.3).

Born in Kapaa, Kauai, T. H.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu.

Employee of Garden Island Motors, Kauai; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

AKANA, Thelma (Mrs.)

Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii.

Attended St. Andrews Priory, Honolulu; St. Luke's Hospital School of Nursing; University of California; University of Columbia; University of Hawaii.

Former assistant director of Public Health Nursing; former Nursing Director, Office of Civilian Defense, Honolulu; presently, manager, Nuuanu Funeral Parlors, Ltd.; member, Territorial Senate, 1945 to date.

President, Nurses Association; president, Territorial Tuberculosis Association (1940-1941); member, Child and Family Service, Honolulu; Y.W.C.A., Honolulu.

AKINA, Arthur A.

Director, Territorial Civil Service Commission & Personnel Classification Board (p. 37).

Born in Kohala, Hawaii, T. H., July 7, 1915.

Attended Waimea School, Kamuela, Hawaii, 1920-1926; Kohala High and Intermediate, 1926-1928; St. Louis College, Honolulu, T. H., 1929-1933; University of Hawaii, 1933-1935; University of Southern California, Los Angeles, 1935-1938, A.B. degree; University of Southern California, 1938-1940, M.S. in Public Administration.

Examining assistant, Los Angeles City Civil Service, September 1, 1939-October 15, 1939; classification technician, County of Hawaii, January 2, 1940-August 31, 1940; assistant director of personnel, Territorial Civil Service Commission, September 1, 1940-March 31, 1942; Personnel Classification Administrator, Territorial Civil Service Commission, April 1, 1942 to September 30, 1944; personnel classification executive, Territorial Civil Service Commission, October 1, 1944-June 30, 1946; personnel executive, Territorial Civil Service Commission (Assistant Director), July 1, 1946-August 31, 1947; Director of Personnel, Territorial Civil Service Commission, September 1, 1947 to date.

Member, Civil Service Assembly of the United States and Canada; National Roster of Scientific and Professional Services; Territorial Council of Personnel Officers.

ANDRADE, James J., Dr.

President, Board of Chiropractic Examiners (p. 44).

Born in Honokaa, Hawaii, T. H., October 7, 1899. Resided in California until return to Hawaii December, 1923.

Attended University of Hawaii, Extension College; Palmer School of Chiropractic, Des Moines, Iowa, D. C. & Ph.C. degrees.

Licensed chiropractor in Nevada, California, Territory of Hawaii; Territorial Board of Chiropractic Examiners, Secretary 10 years, President 12 years.

Member, Nevada Chiropractic Association; Delta Sigma Chi; Lions; Outrigger Club, Honolulu.

ANDREWS, Joseph G.

Representative, 1st District (East Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1943 to date.

AOKI, J. W.

President, Territorial Board of Massage (p. 49).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., December 10, 1903.

Attended McKinley High School; University of California, Ph.G. (Graduate Pharmacist), 1931.

Judo restoration massage training in Japan; 15 years experience as apprentice and professional masseur in the Territory; licensed pharmacist in the Territory; President, Territorial Board of Massage, 1947 to date.

Member, Hawaii Masseurs Association.

ARASHIRO, Matsuki

Representative, 6th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p.3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii.

Employee of McBryde Sugar Company, Kauai; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

BELL, Douglas B., Dr.

Chairman, Territorial Board of Medical Examiners (p. 50).

Born in Tornah, Wisconsin, August 19, 1901. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii December 27, 1925.

Attended Tornah High School, 1919; University of Wisconsin, B.Sc.,1923; University of Chicago, M.D., 1926.

Attending Surgeon at Queen's Hospital, Children's Hospital, St. Francis Hospital, Kapiolani Hospital and Leahi Hospital (all in Honolulu).

Fellow, American College of Surgeons; past president, Honolulu County Medical Association and Territory of Hawaii Medical Association.

BELT, Robert M.

Superintendent of Public Works, Territory of Hawaii (p. 30).

Born in Troutdale, Oregon, June 5, 1907. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii March 10, 1931.

Attended Oregon State College, B.S. (Civil Engineering), 1928.

BELT, Robert M. (cont.)

Oregon State Highway Department, 1927-1930: U.S. Bureau of Public Roads, 1931; resident engineer and district engineer, Department of Public Works, 1931-1941; Commander, U.S. Navy, C.E.C., 1941-1946; Assistant Superintendent and Superintendent of Public Works, 1946 to date.

Member, Engineering Association of Hawaii; former member, Territorial Planning Board; trustee, Leahi Hospital; member, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce.

BIGELOW, Lyman H. Superintendent of Buildings, City and County of Honolulu (p. 65).

Born in Charlestown, Massachusetts, August 16, 1878. Arrived in Territory March 29, 1911.

Attended Bunker Hill Grammar School, Charlestown, Massachusetts, 1893; Mechanics Art High School, Boston, Mass., 1896-1897; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, B.S. in Civil Engineering, 1901.

Civil engineer, Lowell, Mass., 1901-1902; structural steel draftsman, Phoenixville, Pa., 9 months, 1902; sub-inspector government buildings, Navy Yard, Phila., Pa., 1902-1905; civil engineer and superintendent of construction, Fort Robinson, Nebraska, and Honolulu, 1905-1912; civil engineer and chief estimator, Honolulu Planing Mill, Honolulu, 1912-1918; Superintendent of Public Works, Territory of Hawaii, 1918-1934; private practice, 1934-1941; Superintendent of Buildings, City and County of Honolulu, 1941 to date,

Formerly chairman, Board of Harbor Commissioners, Territorial Highway Engineer, Territory of Hawaii; member, Honolulu Board of Water Supply.

<u>BLAISDELL</u>, <u>Neal S</u>.
Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., November 6, 1902.

Attended Kamehameha School for Boys, Honolulu, 1908; St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1909-1921; University of Hawaii, 1921-1923; Bucknell University, Pennsylvania, 1923-1926, B.A. in Economics, 1926.

Athletic coaching for high schools and club teams, 18 years; Real Estate Department, Bishop Trust Company, Honolulu, 1928-1934; Employee Relations Director, Hawaiian Pineapple Company, Honolulu, 1937 to date; member, Territorial Senate, 1945 to date.

BOLLES, Edward A. Chairman, Territorial Real Estate License Commission (p. 59).

BOLLES, Edward A. (cont.)

Born in Ticonderoga, New York, July 24, 1905. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii January, 1933.

Attended Ticonderoga High School; Albany Business College, Albany, N.Y.; Alexander Hamilton Institute, N. Y.

Private real estate business in Territory of Hawaii since 1935; member, City Planning Commission, Honolulu, 1942-1946; Chairman, Real Estate License Commission, 1946 to date; member, Hawaii Aeronautics Commission, 1947 to date.

Vice-president and director, Honolulu Realty Board; American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers (vice-president of Territorial Chapter); Society of Residential Appraisers (vice-president of Honolulu Chapter); vice-president, Kahala Community Club; member, Outrigger Canoe Club, Honolulu.

BOND, Kenneth D. Representative, 2nd District (West Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Kohala, Hawaii, T. H.

Sugar plantation agriculturist and macadamia nut farmer; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1943 to date.

BORTHWICK, William

Tax Commissioner of the Territory of Hawaii (p. 32).

Born in Pike County, Illinois, May 22, 1872. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii March 30, 1916.

Attended public schools of Illinois, 1879-1887.

District Magistrate in Illinois, 1898-1902; City Attorney in Illinois, 1902-1906; Chief Deputy, Coroners Office, Seattle, Washington, 1908-1912; member, Territorial Legislature, 1932-1934; President, Honolulu Building and Loan, 1929-1947; operated a mortuary since arrival in Territory; Tax Commissioner, 1934 to date.

Member, Masons, Odd Fellows, Eagles, Knights of Pythias.

BROWN, Francis Hyde Ii

Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., September 16, 1892.

BROWN, Francis Hyde Ii (cont.)

Attended Punahou School, Honolulu; Fessenden School, West Newton, Mass.; Hill School, Pa.; Berkshire School, Sheffield, Mass.

Treasurer, John Ii Estate, Ltd., Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1924-1926; member, Territorial Senate, 1927 to date.

BROWN, William B.
Treasurer of Territory of Hawaii (pp. 34, 38).

Born in Chillicothe, Ohio, September 10, 1912. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii December, 1943.

Attended Chillicothe Public and High School, 1918-1930; Williams College, 1930-1934, A.B. degree; Harvard University Law School, 1934-1937, LL.B. degree.

Attorney-at-law, Toledo & Chillicothe, Ohio, 1938-1942; price attorney, Office of Price Administration, Washington, D. C., 1942-1943; chief price attorney, Hawaii Territorial Office of Price Administration, 1943-1945; Enforcement Executive, Hawaii Territorial Office of Price Administration, 1945-1946; attorney-at-law, Honolulu, 1945-1947; Clerk, House Judiciary Committee, 1947 Session; Judge, Tax Appeal Court, 1947; Treasurer of the Territory, 1947 to date.

Member, Ohio Bar and Bar Association of Hawaii, American Bar Association; Instructor of business law, University of Hawaii, 1945-1946; member, Pacific Club. Honolulu.

BUCK, Carrick H. (Miss)
Judge, 1st Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Las Vegas, New Mexico, July 5, 1900. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii September 1, 1923.

Attended Polytechnic High School and Los Angeles High School, Los Angeles, California; University of California at Los Angeles; University of Southern California.

Admitted to Bar of State of California, 1921; admitted to Bar of Territory of Hawaii, 1924; admitted to practice Supreme Court of United States, 1921; Assistant United States Attorney, Honolulu; Assistant City and County Attorney, City and County of Honolulu; private law practice, 8 years; Judge, Fifth Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, June 1934; Judge, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1942 to date.

Member, Phi Delta Delta (women's national legal sorority).

CAMPBELL, Robert L.

Director, Hawaii Aeronautics Commission (p. 12).

Born in York, Nebraska, December 12, 1901. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii February 9, 1936.

Attended Hitchcock M.A.; St. Johns, Manlius, N. Y.; University of California.

Airport engineer and administrator, Bureau of Air Commerce, Civil Aeronautics Authority, Civil Aeronautics Administration, 1933-1941; superintendent of maintenance, Hawaiian Airlines, Ltd., 1942-1945; vice-president, Andrew Flying Service, 1945-1947; Director, Hawaii Aeronautics Commission, 1947 to date.

Member, S.A.E.-vice chairman aeronautics, 1945-1946; actively engaged in aviation since 1933 to date, holding commercial pilot certificate and A.& E. mechanics rating.

CAPELLAS, Eugene S.

Senator, 1st District (Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Ponta Delgada, St. Miguel, Azores, February 26, 1880. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1883.

Attended grammar schools in Territory of Hawaii; correspondence course in law.

Assistant teacher, Kealohou, Kula, Maui, 1897-1901; principal, Hakalau School, Hawaii, 1901 to 1944; member, Territorial Senate, 1945 to date.

President, Hilo Portuguese Savings & Investment Association; deputy scout commissioner, Kilauea Council, Boy Scouts of America; member, St. Antonio Benevolent Society, Honolulu; Hilo Teachers' Union (president, 1923-1924, secretary, 15 years); Hawaii Education Association (past secretary and treasurer).

CASTRO, A. D.

Chairman, Board of Public Lands (p. 28).

Born on Island of Madeira, September 30, 1883. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii September. 1886.

Attended Sprecklesville Primary School, Maui, T. H., 1892-1896.

Mercantile clerk, 1897-1902; member of the Territorial Legislature, 1907-1911; executive clerk, Mutual Insurance, 1902-1935; Consul of Brazil, 1915-1937; Consul of Peru, 1917-1937; Loan Fund Commissioner, 1914-1918; trust executive, 1922-1936; Police Commissioner, 1932-1943; brokerage and financial agent, 1936-1947; president, Honolulu Finance & Thrift Company, Ltd., 1924-1947; president, A. D. Castro & Company, Ltd., Honolulu, 1936-1947; president, County Finance Company, Ltd., 1936-1947.

Member, Waialae Country Club, Honolulu.

CHANG, Raymond

Senator, 1st District (Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Waipio Valley, Hawaii, January 11, 1899.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu.

Manager, Chinese Department of Sales, Royal Hawaiian Sales Company, 1925-1928; sales manager, Palama Auto Sales Company, 1928-1933; U. S. Internal Revenue Service: zone deputy collector, Honolulu office, 3 years; division chief, Hilo office, until retirement in 1945; presently, public accountant and tax consultant, Island of Hawaii; member, Territorial Senate, 1947 to date.

CHAPMAN, E. Walker

Chairman, Territorial Fair Commission (p. 10).

Born in San Francisco, California, May 10, 1908. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii May, 1934.

Attended San Francisco public schools; University of Southern California, 2 years.

Film exchange manager with Royal Amusements, Ltd., Honolulu, since 1934.

CHU, Peter E.

Chairman, Territorial Civil Service Commission (p. 37).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., October 19, 1902.

Attended McKinley High School, 1919; Oakland Technical High School, Oakland, California, 1919-1922; University of Wisconsin, 1922-1925.

Payroll clerk and statistician, California Packing Corp., Wahiawa, Oahu, 1925-1926; junior accountant, War Department, 1926-1928; personnel counselor, 1928-1938; supervisor and senior interviewer, Territorial and U. S. Employment Service, 1938-1942; Chief, Labor Research and Statistics Department, U. S. Engineers Department, Honolulu, 1942-1943; owner of oriental art shop, 1943 to date; Chairman of Territorial Civil Service Commission, 1947 to date.

CHUNG-HOON, William, Jr.

Treasurer, City and County of Honolulu (p. 81).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., January 29, 1883.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1889-1895; Punahou Academy, Honolulu, 1896-1898.

CHUNG-HOON, William, Jr. (cont.)

Clerk, Bookkeeper, assistant cashier, E. O. Hall & Son, Ltd., Honolulu, 1906-1926; Deputy Treasurer, City and County of Honolulu, 1927-1945; appointed Treasurer, City and County of Honolulu, 1945 to date.

CORBETT, Gerald R. Judge, 6th Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Ladysmith, Wisconsin, July 3, 1903. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1928.

Attended University of California at Los Angeles, 1921-1924; Loyola University of Los Angeles, 1922-1926, LL.B.

General law practice, 1928-1933; Deputy City and County Attorney, City and County of Honolulu, 1933-1939; Controller, City and County of Honolulu (first incumbent), 1939-1944; Secretary of Hawaii, 1944-1946; Judge, Juvenile Court, 1946 to date.

Member, American Bar Association, National Probation Association; director, Honolulu Council of Social Agencies, Mental Hygiene Society.

CRISTY, Albert M.
Judge, 2nd Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (pp. 2, 40).

Born in Hudson, Ohio, February 13, 1889. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii September 1, 1914.

Attended grammar school in Cleveland, Ohio; Hope High, Providence, R. I., 1901-1905; Brown University, A.B., 1909; Harvard Law School, LL.B., cum laude, 1914.

Teacher, Williston Seminary, Easthampton, Mass., 1909-1911; admitted to Bar of Territory of Hawaii, 1914; private practice of law in Honolulu, 1915-1919; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1921; member, Compilation Commission, Revised Laws of Hawaii, 1935 and 1945; Compiler, Session Laws of Hawaii, 1945 and 1947; author and editor, Star Annotations Service Hawaii, 1935-1947; Judge, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1926 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii (secretary, 1915-1921); Phi Beta Kappa; Phi Gamma Delta.

CROZIER, Clarence A. Senator, 2nd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3). Born in Territory of Hawaii.

CROZIER, Clarence A. (cont.)

Member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1935; member, Territorial Senate, 1937 to date.

DICKSON, Joseph

Auditor of Territory of Hawaii (p. 8).

Born in Elie, Scotland, March 30, 1904, Arrived in the Territory of Hawaii April 28, 1930.

Attended Hillhead High School, Glasgow, Scotland; received class tickets from Glasgow University in Commercial Law, Economics, Accountancy and Actuarial Science.

Senior accountant with Young, Lamberton and Pearson, C.P.A., Honolulu, 5 years; Chief Accountant, B. P. Bishop Estate, Honolulu, 8 years; Deputy Auditor, Territory of Hawaii, 12 years; Auditor, Territory of Hawaii, July, 1944 to date.

Member, Municipal Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada, National Association of Cost Accountants, Hawaii Certified Public Accountants Association, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; qualified as member of Institute of Accountants and Actuaries in Scotland (Chartered Accountant), 1929.

DILLINGHAM, Walter H.

Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., November 23, 1908.

Attended Punahou School, Honolulu, 1915-1925; Montezuma School, California, 1925-1927; University of Washington, BBA., 1927-1931.

Real estate broker; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1941, 1947 to date.

FERNANDES, John B.

Senator, 4th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Kapaia, Lihue, Kauai, May 15, 1892.

Attended public schools in Lihue, Kauai; St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1912.

Entered business on Island of Kauai, 1912; president and manager, Kapaa Ice & Soda Works Company, Ltd. and Kapaa Electric Company; director, Garden Island Motors, Ltd., Kauai Factors, Ltd., Nawiliwili Transportation Company, Ltd., Puhi Company, Kapaia Store, Ltd. and Kapaa Branch Store; elected member Kauai Board of Supervisors, 1933-1934; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1937; member, Territorial Senate, 1939 to date.

FERNANDES, John B. (cont.)

Executive member, Kauai Portuguese Welfare Association; Pono Athletic Association; president, Portuguese Welfare Association.

FERNANDEZ, Louis

Chairman, Board of Plumbing Examiners, City and County of Honolulu (p. 65).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., December 1, 1904.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, T. H., 1913-1917.

Formerly with E. W. Quinn Plumbing Company, Honolulu; City and County Building Department; R. E. Woolley Contractor, Honolulu; chairman, Board of Plumbing Examiners, 8 years; owner, W.& F. Plumbing Company, Honolulu.

Member, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce, Hawaii Visitor's Bureau, General Contractor's Association; president, Master Plumber's Association.

FERNANDEZ. Louis K.

Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Kula, Maui, T. H.

Attended public schools in Maui, T. H.

Retired police officer with 34 years' service, County of Maui; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

FONG, Hiram L.

Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., October 1, 1907.

Attended grammar schools in Honolulu; McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1924; University of Hawaii, A.B., 1930; Harvard Law School, LL.B., 1935.

Clerk, U. S. Navy Yard, Pearl Harbor; chief clerk, Honolulu Bureau of Water Supply; Deputy Attorney, City and County of Honolulu, 1935-1938; Major, U. S. Army Corps, J.A.G.D., 1942-1945; private practice of law, Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1939, 1941, 1945 to date.

FONG, Leonard K.

Auditor, City and County of Honolulu (p. 64).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., March 15, 1900.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu; University of Hawaii, Extension Department; LaSalle University Extension Course.

FONG, Leonard K. (cont.)

Chief bookkeeper, U. S. Navy Yard, Pearl Harbor, 1918-1921; office manager, chief accountant, cashier, Laie Plantation, 1921-1924; accountant, Commission on Public Accountancy, Territory of Hawaii, 1924; deputy income tax assessor, Territory of Hawaii, 1924; chief accountant-statistician, Territory of Hawaii, 1925-1934; public accountant, 1934-1940; City and County Auditor, 1940 to date.

FREEDMAN, Morris N. Chairman, Labor and Industrial Relations Appeal Board (p. 22).

Born in St. Petersburg, Russia, June 24, 1902. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1923.

Attended McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1926; Territorial Normal School, 1927-1931; post graduate work, University of Hawaii.

Former teacher, Phillips Commercial School, Honolulu; secretary, Army & Navy YMCA, Pearl Harbor, T. H.; principal (Academic Department), assistant superintendent, superintendent, Waialee Training School for Boys, Honolulu; teacher, Department of Public Instruction; business manager, wholesale and jobbing; principal, private high school, Manila, Philippines; jeweler.

Member, Board of Directors, Jewish Welfare Board, U.S.O; American Education Association; Maui and Oahu Teachers Association; chairman, Bahai Community; executive board member, National Association Advancement of Colored People (Hawaii); former member, Honolulu Council of Social Agencies.

GIER, Bernice L., Dr.
President, Board of Osteopathic Examiners (p. 55).

Born in Missouri, March 23, 1903. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii March, 1929.

Attended University of Missouri, 1921; Kirksville College of Applied Science, Missouri, 1923-1926, B.S. degree; Kirksville College of Osteopathy & Surgery, 1927, D.O. degree.

Member, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce Legislative Health Committee; Oahu Health Council; American Osteopathic Association; Hawaii Osteopathic Society; California Osteopathic Association.

GIGNOUX, Alexis J. Chairman, Board of Paroles and Pardons (p. 20).

Born in St. Louis, Missouri, July 22, 1876. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii December 1901.

Attended St. Louis University, 1892-1894; St. Louis College of Pharmacy, 1897-1898.

GIGNOUX, Alexis J. (cont.)

Vice-president and division manager of McKesson & Robbins, Inc. (Honolulu Division); member and chairman, Board of Paroles and Pardons since 1941; member, City Planning Commission, Honolulu.

GILLILAND, James F. Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., August 7, 1899.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1917; Georgetown University, LL.B., 1923; Harvard Law School, LL.M., 1924.

Former Deputy U. S. Attorney for Hawaii, 1927; Chief Deputy Sheriff and Coroner, Honolulu, 1928; City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1928-1932; member, Board of Supervisors, City and County of Honolulu, 1934-1940; private practice of law, Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii; Kamehameha Lodge; St. Louis College Alumni Association; Harvard Club.

GLOVER, James W.
Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Franklin, Tennessee, July 16, 1904. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii February 4, 1927.

Attended Mercer University, Macon, Georgia, 1923-1926; University of Southern California, 1926-1927; University of Hawaii, 1927-1929, B.S. (Civil Engineering).

Superintendent of construction, E. E. Black, Ltd., Honolulu, 1929-1935; general contractor, 1935 to date; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1943 to date.

GODBOLD, Wilford D. City and County of Honolulu (p. 71).

Born in Camden, Alabama, April 3, 1911, Arrived in Territory of Hawaii November 12, 1919.

Attended Camden Grammer School, Alabama, 1917-1919; Punahou Academy, Honolulu, 1919-1930; University of Hawaii, 1930-1933, B.A.; University of Alabama Law School, 1933-1936, LL.B.

Private law practice, Honolulu, 1936-1941; attorney, Delinquent Tax Bureau, Territory of Hawaii, 1937; law secretary, Supreme Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1937-1938; District Judge, Wahiawa, Oahu, T. H., 1939-1941; examiner of

GODBOLD, Wilford D. (cont.)

titles, Territorial Land Court, 1939 to date; Acting Judge, Honolulu District Court, 1940; United States Commissioner for Island of Oahu, 1940-1944; Deputy City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1941-1944; Chief Deputy City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1944-1946.

Member, American Bar Association; Bar Association of Hawaii; National Municipal Law Officers.

GOMES, Clement

Senator, 4th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Hanamaulu, Kauai, October 31, 1892.

Self-educated through study with correspondence schools.

Employed by Waimea Stables, Ltd., 1906; foreman, Gomes garages at Hanapepe and Nawiliwili, Kauai, 1912-1920; manager, secretary, then director, Nawiliwili Transportation Company, Ltd.; vice-president and director, County Finance Corporation, Kauai; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1925-1940; member, Territorial Senate, 1941 to date.

Member, Kauai Chamber of Commerce; American Legion; Kauai Athletic Club; Lions (director); Portuguese Welfare Association.

GOODNESS, Reuben

Senator, 2nd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii

Member, Territorial Senate, 1937 to date.

GUILD, Archibald S.

Executive Director, Hawaii Housing Authority (p. 13).

Born in Edinburgh, Scotland, January 24, 1878. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii May, 1899.

Attended Queen's Park public school, Glasgow, Scotland.

Stockbroker's office, Glasgow; clerk, bookkeeper, custom house clerk, with Theo. H. Davies & Company, Honolulu, 1899-1905; head of Ewa Plantation Office, 1905-1913; head of Castle & Cooke, Ltd., Office, 1913-1933; private accounting office, 1933-1939; Executive Director, Hawaii Housing Authority, 1939 to date.

Member, Masons; K.C.C.H.; Shrine.

GUNTZER, Vincent

Director, Territorial Council on Veterans' Affairs (p. 33).

Born in New York City, July 1; 1903. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August, 1941.

Attended Lafayette College, 1921-1923; Columbia University, 1924; New York Law School, 1930, LL.B.

Worked in law office; operated chemical business; engaged in rare book business; coverage examiner for Social Security Board; assistant manager Honolulu office, Social Security Board; Executive Secretary Veterans' Advisors, Honolulu, 1945 (now Territorial Council on Veterans' Affairs).

Member, Outrigger Club, Honolulu.

HAMMAN, Grace C. (Mrs.)

Director, Bureau of Sight Conservation and Work with the Blind (p. 31).

Born in Denver, Colorado, March 5, 1899. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1922.

Attended Colorado State Teachers College, receiving teaching diploma; University of Oregon; University of Hawaii, M. A. in psychology and education in 1930; Columbia University, 1932; Harvard University, 1933, doing graduate work in prevention of blindness and psychology of the blind.

Teacher, public schools of Colorado; volunteer work with blind of Oahu, 1928-1934; organized sight-saving classes in Hawaii, 1934-1935; Director of Bureau of Sight Conservation and Work with the Blind, 1935 to date.

Member, National Educational Association; Illuminating Engineering Association of America; National Committee on School Lighting; National Association for the Prevention of Blindness; American Association of Workers with the Blind; American Foundation for the Blind; National Vocational Rehabilitation Association.

HANAKAHI, Harry

Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in North Kohala, Hawaii, T. H., January 30, 1882.

Attended Kamehameha School for Boys, Honolulu, 1901.

Homesteader, Kaunakakai, Molokai; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

HANSON, Harry A.

President, Territorial Board of Accountancy (p. 41)

Born in Chicago, Illinois, June 15, 1910. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii in 1932.

HANSON, Harry A. (cont.)

Attended Robert Emmet School, Chicago, Illinois, 1915-1923; Austin High School, Chicago, Illinois; 1923-1927; University of Illinois, 1927-1931, B.S.

Accountant, Tennent & Greaney, C.P.A., Honolulu, July, 1933- October, 1945; partner, accounting firm of Hanson, Raun & Hanson, Honolulu, November, 1945 to date.

Member, American Institute of Accountants; Hawaii Society of Certified Public Accountants; National Association of Cost Accountants.

HAYES, Flora K. (Mrs.)

Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Hana, Maui, T. H., April 17, 1893.

Attended Kamehameha School for Girls, Honolulu, 1913.

Past president, Kamehameha Alummae Association, Iolani Guild, Hawaii Congress of Parents and Teachers, Hawaiian Civic Club; past member, City and County Recreation Commission, Welfare Board; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1939, 1943 to date.

HEEN, Ernest N. Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii.

Former City-County Clerk, City and County of Honolulu; secretary to Mayor, City and County of Honolulu; presently, realtor, Honolulu; member, Territorial Senate, 1945 to date.

HEEN, William H.

Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Olowalu, Maui, March 11, 1883.

Attended Iolani School and Oahu College, Honolulu; University of California, 1902-1904.

Admitted to Bar of Hawaii, 1905; Deputy County Attorney, Island of Hawaii, 1909-1915; Deputy Attorney General, Territory of Hawaii, 1915-1917; 3rd Judge, 1st Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1917-1919; City and County Attorney, City and County of Honolulu, 1919-1925; private practice of law, Honolulu; member, Territorial Senate, 1927 to date.

Member, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; Hawaiian Civic Club.

HENRIQUES, Manuel S.

Representative; 6th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Funchal, Madeira, Portugal.

Second District Magistrate, Kapaa, Kauai; notary public, 25 years; district court practitioner; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1945 to date.

HILL, William H.

Senator, 1st District (Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Ashville, N. Carolina, June 15, 1890. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii in 1913.

Attended Idaho grammar school, Moscow High School.

Optical and jewelry business in Hilo, Hawaii, until 1926; now president and manager of a number of corporations, Hilo, Hawaii; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1929; member, Territorial Senate, 1933, 1935, 1939 to date.

Member, Scottish Rite; Masons; Shriners; Elks; American Legion; Eastern Star.

HOLCOMB, Newton R.

Director, Department of Public Welfare (p. 29).

Born in Bremerton, Washington, April 2, 1912. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1940.

Attended University of Washington, 1929.

Clerk, U. S. Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce, Seattle, 1929; executive assistant and trade compliance officer, National Recovery Administration, 1933; administrative assistant, Social Security Board, Washington, D. C., 1936; manager, field office, Bureau of Old-Age and Survivors' Insurance, Helena, Montana, 1936; assistant regional representative, Social Security Board, Denver, 1938-1939; manager, Honolulu office, Bureau of Old-Age and Survivors' Insurance, Honolulu, 1940-1942; Territorial director, U. S. Employment Service, Honolulu, 1942; Territorial director, Federal War Manpower Commission and director, Hawaii War Manpower Commission, 1942-1945; director, Department of Public Welfare, 1946 to date.

HOOPAI, William

Chief of Police, Honolulu Police Department (p. 75).

Born in Waimea, Kauai, T. H., October 6, 1888.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu (graduate); Vollmer's Class of Police Administration, 1934.

HOOPAI, William (cont.)

Clerk, Supreme Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1913-1917; World War I, 1918-1919; Clerk, Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1919-1929; Deputy Sheriff, Honolulu, 1929-1932; Assistant Chief of Police, Honolulu, 1932-1946; Chief of Police, Honolulu, 1946 to date.

Member, International Association of Chiefs of Police; Hawaii Association of Law Enforcement Officials.

HOSOI, Herman

Chairman, Board of Examiners of Applicants for License to Practice Embalming and Funeral Directing (p. 46).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., January 1, 1907.

Attended elementary and high school in Honolulu; graduated McKinley High School, 1928; attended Cincinnati College of Embalming, 1929; University of Hawaii, 3 years.

Operates own mortuary in Honolulu.

Member, Pi Sigma Eta (embalmers' fraternity).

HOUGHTAILING, George K.

Chief Planning Engineer and Executive Secretary, City Planning Commission, City and County of Honolulu (pp. 74, 80).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., June 11, 1905.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1913-1925; University of Dayton, Ohio, 1925-1929, B.S. in Civil Engineering; Yale University, 1940-1941 (research in traffic engineering), Certificate in Highway Transportation, 1941; University of Dayton, Ohio, C.E., 1945.

Rodman and draftsman, City and County of Honolulu, 1929-1933; junior engineer, 1933-1937; project engineer, 1937-1939; associate planning engineer, 1939-1940; acting planning engineer, 1941-1945; Chief Planning Engineer, City and County of Honolulu, 1945 to date.

Member, Engineering Association of Honolulu; Institute of Traffic Engineers, American Society of Planning Officials; American Planning and Civic Association.

HOUVENER, H. L., Dr.

President, Board of Dental Examiners (p. 45).

Born in Prairieville, Michigan, March 17, 1897. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1924.

HOUVENER, H. L., Dr. (cont.)

Attended high school, Hastings, Michigan, 1915; Valparaiso University, Ph.G., 1917; College of Dental Surgery, University of Michigan, D.D.S., 1924.

Served in U. S. Navy 1917-1919, receiving honorable discharge in Honolulu. Returned to Honolulu upon graduation from dental school in 1924; practiced dentistry in Territory since 1924.

Member, past president and secretary of Oahu Dental Society and Territorial Dental Association; member, American Dental Association; Honolulu Lodge 409, F.& A.M.; Scottish Rite; Shriners; Oahu Country Club.

HOYT, Simes T.

Chairman, Board of Registration for Professional Engineers, Architects, and Land Surveyors (p. 47).

Born in Newington, New Hampshire, December 17, 1890. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii September, 1911.

Attended elementary and high schools in New Hampshire, graduating from Portsmouth, N. H., high school in 1905; New Hampshire College, 1906-1910, B.S. in mechanical engineering, 1910.

Teacher, Normal School and Vocational Training School, Honolulu, 1911-1914; overseer, Hawaiian Pineapple Company, Ltd., 1915-1917; Captain, Corps of Engineers, U.S.A., 1917-1919; engineer, Hawaiian Pineapple Company, Ltd., 1919-1932; construction engineer, Castle & Cooke, Ltd., 1932 to date.

Member, Honolulu Board of Water Supply, 1932-1947; member, American Society of Mechanical Engineers; Society of Automotive Engineers; Engineering Association of Hawaii; Hawaiian Sugar Planters Association; Hawaiian Sugar Technologists.

HUCKESTEIN, Mark N.

Registrar, Bureau of Conveyances (pp. 35, 40).

Born in Salem, Oregon, February 23, 1896. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August, 1916.

Graduated from 9th grade, Sacred Heart Academy, Salem, Oregon, 1910; attended Capitol Business College, Salem, Oregon.

Varied business experience, including positions of cashier, bookkeeper, and salesman; engaged in real estate business, 1925-1935; Registrar, January, 1935, to date.

Member, Honolulu Realty Board; American Legion; Elks.

IGNACIO, Amos A.
Representative, 1st District (East Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born Ookala, Hawaii, T. H., November 10, 1907.

Attended Hilo High School, Hawaii, 1926; Honolulu Business College, 1928-1929,

Manager, Maui Typewriter Exchange, 1928-1931, County of Hawaii, 1932-1935; postmaster, Hakalau, Hawaii, 1936-1937; Pepeekeo Sugar Company, Hawaii, 1937-1946; president, labor union, 1946 to date; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1945 to date.

ITAGAKI, Joseph R. Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Aiea, Oahu, T. H.

Restaurant manager, Kemoo Farm, Wahiawa, Oahu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

JONES, <u>Virginia</u> (Miss) Chairman, Board of Licensing of Nurses (p. 53).

Born in Indiana, May 1, 1899. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August, 1940.

Attended Columbia University, 1922; University of California, 1924-1925, receiving Public Health Nursing Certificate; University of Indiana, B.S. in education, 1933; University of Hawaii, M.A. in education, 1944.

Director, Public Health Nursing Association, Richmond, Indiana, 1920-1931; Supervisor, Berkeley, California, Health Department, 1927-1928; Assistant Director, Bureau of Public Health Nursing, Indiana Board of Health, 1931-1935; Director, Program of Study in Public Health Nursing, University of Indiana, 1935-1936; Educational Secretary, National Organization for Public Health Nursing, New York City, 1936-1940; Associate Professor of Public Health Nursing and Chairman of Department of Nursing, University of Hawaii, 1940 to date.

President of Nurses' Association of Territory of Hawaii; Hawaii Public Health Association; member, Advisory Committee on Education for Trust Territories and Guam; National Organization for Public Health Nursing; American Nurses Association; American Public Health Association; National League of Nursing Education; Territorial Society for Mental Hygiene; Phi Kappa Phi; Board of Directors, Hawaii Tuberculosis Association.

KAHANAMOKU, Duke P. Sheriff, City and County of Honolulu (p. 79).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., August 24, 1890.

KAHANAMOKU, Duke P. (cont.)

Attended Kamehameha School for Boys, Honolulu.

Clerk, Office of Secretary, Territory of Hawaii, 3 years; Sheriff, City and County of Honolulu, 1934 to date.

KAHOLOKULA, Joseph A.

Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., January 2, 1906.

Attended public schools in Territory of Hawaii.

Employee, Maui Agricultural Company, Paia, Maui, 18 years; president, labor union; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1945 to date.

KAM, Frank Y.

Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H.

Attended public schools in Territory of Hawaii.

Proprietor, Frankie's Market, Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

Member, Kalihi Branch, YMCA; Kalihi-Palama Community Council; St. Louis Alumni Association; Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; Chinese Chamber of Commerce; Hawaii Masseur Association; American-Chinese Club.

KAONOHI, Alexander K., Dr.

President, Board of Examiners in Naturopathy (p. 52).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., April 24, 1905.

Attended Standard College of Naturopathy, Chicago, N. D., 1930; California University of Liberal Physicians, D. O., 1933; American School of Naturopathy, New York, M.N.Sc., 1939; Lincoln College of Naturopathic Physicians and Surgeons, Indiana, M.D., 1946; Golden Gate University, California, Ph.D., 1946.

Chairman, Legislative Committee of Naturopathic Physicians Association; consulting naturopathic physician; proprietor, Kaonohi Naturopathic Clinic, Honolulu.

Fellow, Academy of Science of Botanic Medicine; member, National Medical Association of America; Medical Physical Research Council of America; Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; Hawaiian Civic Club; Sons and Daughters of Hawaiian Warriors; L.D.S. Young Men Mutual Association.

KAUHANE, Charles E.

Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., June 14, 1905.

Attended grammar schools in Territory of Hawaii, St. Louis College, Honolulu.

Deputy Sheriff and Deputy Coroner, Honolulu, 13 years; tavern owner, Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1943 to date.

KELLER, Arthur R.

Executive Secretary, Territorial Retirement and Pension Commission (p. 39).

Born in Buffalo, New York, July 28, 1892. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii in September, 1909.

Attended Cornell University, C.E., 1903; National University Law School, LL.B., 1906; Harvard University, S.M.C.E., 1916; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, M.S., 1916; University of Hawaii, Hon.D.Sc., 1942.

Engineering work for railroads and highways; formerly teacher, professor of engineering, Dean of College of Applied Science, Vice-president, University of Hawaii; member, City Planning Commission, Hawaii Housing Authority, Territorial Board of Health.

Registered engineer, Territory of Hawaii; associate member of A.S.C.E.; member, Society of Engineering Education; Engineering Association of Hawaii; A.A.A.S.

KEMP, Samuel B.

Chief Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii (p. 1).

Born in Austin, Texas, December 26, 1871. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii in 1916.

Educated in public schools, Texas; Texas Agricultural and Mechanical College; University of Texas, LL.B., 1900.

Law practice in Austin, Texas; Judge, Coke County Court, Texas, 1914-1916; Assistant U. S. District Attorney for Hawaii until 1917; Judge, Circuit Court, 1917; Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1918-1922; Attorney General, Territory of Hawaii, 1937-1938; Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1938-1941; Chief Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1941 to date.

Officer and director of various Hawaii corporations; first Chairman, Hawaii Housing Authority, 1935-1937; Chairman, Territorial Public Utilities Commission, 1936-1937; member, Masons, Shriners.

<u>KEPPELER</u>, <u>Paul K</u>. Controller, City and County of Honolulu (p. 68).

Born in Pearl City, Oahu, T. H., May 15, 1897.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1908-1913; LaSalle Extension Course; Alexander Hamilton Correspondence Course; Honolulu YMCA Night School; University of Hawaii, Extension Department.

Bookkeeper, 1913-1917; accountant, Oahu Railway & Land Company, Honolulu, 1917-1919; bookkeeper and cashier, Honokaa Sugar Company, Hawaii, 1920-1923; cashier and paymaster, Ewa Plantation Company, Oahu, 1923-1930; office manager, Ewa Plantation, 1930-1944; budget examiner, Bureau of the Budget, Territory of Hawaii, 1944-1946; Controller, City and County of Honolulu, 1946 to date.

Member, Hawaii Chapter, National Association of Cost Accountants (president 1934-1935); Municipal Finance Officers Association of United States and Canada.

KIDO, Mitsuyuki
Representative, 5th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p.3).

Born in Keahua, Maui, T. H., September 7, 1906.

Attended Maui High School, 1924; University of Hawaii, B.A., 1928, M.Ed., 1938.

Instructor, public schools, Territory of Hawaii, 1928-1944; executive secretary, Territorial Emergency Service Committee (World War II); executive secretary, Honolulu Hog Raisers' Association; real estate salesman, Honolulu.

Director, Honolulu Community Chest, Palama Settlement; director and secretary, Kuakini General Hospital and Home, Honolulu.

<u>LAU, Ah Chew</u> High Sheriff, Territory of Hawaii (p. 17).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., August 15, 1898.

Educated at St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1905; graduated Swatow High School, Swatow, China.

Former road inspector, Engineering Department, City and County of Honolulu; Clerk and Interpretor, District Court of Honolulu, 1936-1943; High Sheriff of Hawaii, August, 1945 to date; president and manager, King Market, Ltd.; manager, Lau's Apartments and Lau's Fishing Company; owner of pet shop, Honolulu.

Member, Board of Governors of National Sheriff's Association; St. Louis College Alumni Association, Honolulu; chairman, Democratic Central Committee of Oahu; president, Hawaiian Dog Fancier Association; president, Lung Kong Society. LE BARON, Louis
Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii (p. 1).

Born in San Jose, California, December 27, 1897. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1924.

Attended Santa Barbara High School, 1917; University of California, B.A., 1921; Harvard Law School, 1921-1924.

Secretary of commission that revised municipal court procedure of Greater New York, 1923; admitted to Hawaii Bar, 1924; private law practice, Honolulu, 1924-1935; Judge, District Court of Honolulu, 1935-1937; First Judge First Judicial Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1937-1942; Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1942 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii; relief commander, American Legion, Department of Hawaii, 1930-1934; member, Territorial Counsel for Home Owners' Loan Corp., 1934; member, Elks.

LEE, Herbert K. H.
Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., April 30, 1912.

Attended Kaahumanu School, Honolulu, 1918-1926; Washington Intermediate School, Honolulu, 1926-1927; McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1927-1930; University of Hawaii, 1930-1932; University of Yenching, Peking, China, 1932-1934, A.B., 1934; University of Michigan Law School, 1936-1939, LL.B., 1939.

Assistant Public Prosecutor, City and County of Honolulu, 1940-1941; Deputy Attorney General, Territory of Hawaii, 1941-1942; private practice of law, Honolulu, 1943 to date; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1945 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii.

LENNOX, Colin G.
President, Board of Commissioners of Agriculture and Forestry (p. 9).

Born in Eleele, Kauai, T. H., May 29, 1904.

Attended Punahou School, Honolulu, 1910-1922; University of Hawaii,1922-1924; Cornell University, 1924-1926, B.S., 1926.

Assistant geneticist in Sugar Cane Breeding, 1926-1933; associate geneticist, 1933-1943, in charge of experimental sub-station testing sugar cane breeding and testing of diversified crops; Director of Food Production under Office of Civilian Defense, 1945.

President, Hawaiian Botanical Society; member, Hawaiian Academy of Science, American Academy of Science, Pacific Club, Honolulu.

LLOYD, Robert H. Chairman, Hawaii Housing Authority (p. 13).

Born in Philadelphia, Pa., January 3, 1902. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii in 1928.

Attended Swarthmore College, 1920-1924, B.S. in mechanical engineering, 1924.

Resident engineer, Worthington Pump & Machinery Corp., 1928-1936; senior planning engineer, Hawaiian Pineapple Company, Ltd., 1936 to date.

Chairman, Advisory Board, Salvation Army; member, Hawaiian Sugar Technologists; director, Honolulu Rotary Club.

LONG, Oren E. Secretary of Hawaii (pp. 6, 26).

Born in Altoona, Kansas, March 4, 1889. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii July, 1917.

Attended public schools in Kansas and Tennessee; Johnson College, Tennessee; B.A., 1912; University of Michigan, M.A., 1917; Columbia University, M.A. in education, 1923.

High school teacher and principal, 1912-1917; settlement worker, Hilo, Hawaii, 1917-1918; educational work, YMCA, Fort Shafter, 1918-1919; teacher and vice-principal, McKinley High School, 1919-1920; principal, Kauai High School, 1924-1925; Deputy Superintendent of Public Instruction, Territory of Hawaii, 1925-1934; Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1934-1946; Secretary of Hawaii, 1946 to date.

Chairman, Advisory Committee on Education for Guam and Trust Islands; Regent, University of Hawaii, 1935-1946; member, National Education Association, Hawaii Education Association, Municipal Finance Officers Association, Hawaii Social Science Association, Institute of Pacific Relations; member, Lions, Masons, Shriners.

LONGLEY, Abner T. Chairman, Hawaii Statehood Commission (p. 14).

Born in Washington, D. C., April 24, 1887. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii, August 12, 1908.

Attended public schools in District of Columbia, 1894-1902; Business college, Washington, D. C., 1905-1908.

Messenger, stenographer, chief clerk, Territorial marketing superintendent, department superintendent, and plantation manager for Hawaiian Pineapple Company, Ltd., presently, Manager of Oahu Plantation of Hawaiian Pineapple Company,

LONGLEY, Abner T. (cont.)

Ltd.; member, 1940 Statehood Commission; Citizens' Statehood Commission, 1946; member and Secretary of Territorial Board of Harbor Commissioners for 13 years; Chairman, Democratic Central Committee of Hawaii; Democratic National Committeeman; member, Rotary Club, Masons, Shriners, Scottish Rite, American Legion, Sojourners; Trustee, Wahiawa Settlement Association; member, Board of Directors, Wahiawa Hospital.

LOOMIS, Ruth W. (Miss)
Acting Director, Department of Labor and Industrial Relations (p. 21).

Born in Marshall, Minnesota, March 18, 1908. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August. 1935.

Attended University of Iowa, 1927-1929; University of Denver, School of Law, 1932-1935, LL.B., 1935.

Practiced law in Honolulu, 1936 to December, 1942; attorney for Department of Labor and Industrial Relations, December, 1942 to present; Acting Director of the Department, October 1, 1947 to date.

Member, American Bar Association and Bar Association of Hawaii.

LOPER, W. Harold, Dr. Superintendent of Public Instruction and Executive Officer, Territorial Board for Vocational Education (pp. 27, 36).

Born in Mediapolis, Iowa, April 22, 1899. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August, 1921.

Received high school diploma, Visalia, California, 1916; University of Redlands, B.S., 1921; Harvard University, Ed.M., 1925; Columbia University, Ed.D., 1939.

Principal, Kauai High School, 1925-1928; supervising principal, West Hawaii Schools, 1928-1930; supervising principal, Honolulu Schools, 1930-1942; Director of Liquor Control (Military Government), 1942-1944; Co-chairman, Territorial War Labor Board, 1944-1945; Chairman, Hawaiian Employment Relations Board, 1945-1946; Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1946 to date.

Member, National Education Association, Hawaii Education Association, Lions, Masons; past president, Hawaii Medical Service Association.

LYONS, J. E. Superintendent, Board of Public Parks and Recreation, City and County of Honolulu (p. 76).

LYONS, J. E. (cont.)

Born in Hana, Maui, T. H., November 19, 1894.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu; American Institute of Bankers, San Francisco Chapter.

Manager, Transit Department, Anglo & London Paris National Bank, 1918-1920; manager, Transit Department, and chief clerk of Los Angeles branch, Bank of Italy, 1921-1924; special examiner, First National Bank of Venice, 1925; deputy insurance commissioner, California State Insurance Department, 1925-1928; deputy auditor, City and County of Honolulu, 1928-1935; Parks Board, City and County of Honolulu, 1935-1945; Superintendent, Parks Board, City and County of Honolulu, 1946 to date.

MAKINNEY, Fred W. (Brig. Gen.)
Adjutant General, Hawaii National Guard, Territory of Hawaii (p. 25).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., August 23, 1899.

Attended Punahou Academy, Honolulu; U. S. Military Academy, West Point, N. Y., 1918, B.S.

U. S. Army, commissioned and served in all grades from 2nd Lieutenant to Colonel, 1918-1946; formerly Chief of Staff, Armored Center, Ft. Knox, Ky.

MARKS, A. Lester
Commissioner of Public Lands and Surveyor of Territory of Hawaii, Department of Fublic Lands and Survey (p. 28).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., February 8, 1892.

Attended McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1911; Cornell University, C.E., 1915.

Engineer, Territorial Highway Department; president and manager, Marks Construction Company, Honolulu; executor, L. L. McCandless Estate, Honolulu.

Associate member, American Society of Civil Engineers; member, Engineering Association of Hawaii; American Legion; McKinley Alumni Association; Quarter-master Association, Hawaiian Chapter; Young Men's Christian Association of Honolulu; Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; Propeller Club; Pacific Club; Commercial Club; Masons; Shriners; Aloha Temple.

MATTHEWMAN, John A.

Judge, 5th Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in New Haven, Connecticut, November 23, 1872. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii December 24, 1900.

MATTHEWMAN, John A. (cont.)

Attended Yale University, B.S., 1894, LL.B., 1896.

Admitted to Bar of Connecticut, 1896; private law practice in Connecticut, 1896-1900; private law practice, Honolulu, 1900-1904; Judge, 3rd Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1904-1916; private law practice, Honolulu, 1916-1922; Attorney General of Territory of Haw ii, 1922-1925; private law practice, Honolulu, 1925-1930; First Assistant U. S. District Attorney, Honolulu, 1930-1933; Judge, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1938 to date.

Formerly in charge of Red Cross work in Vladivostok and Harbin, 1917.

McGUIRE, Walter F.

Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., March 5, 1910.

Attended Kamehameha School for Boys, Honolulu, 1917-1920; Punahou Academy, Honolulu, 1920-1929; University of Wisconsin, 1930-1934.

Assistant to President, Honolulu Rapid Transit Company, Honolulu, 1936 to date; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1945 to date.

MILES, William E. Administrator, Rent Control Commission, City and County of Honolulu (p. 78).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., January 11, 1888.

Attended elementary schools in Honolulu; St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1905.

Bookkeeper and assistant manager, Oahu Sugar Company Plantation Store; secretary to Mayor of Honolulu; purchasing agent, City and County of Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives; realty and financing business; tourist and travel service business; special negotiator for City and County of Honolulu; camp director, C.C.C. camp; director, U.S.O. Genter; assistant chief of Stabilization for War Manpower; assistant chief and division administrator for acquisition, Surplus Property, W.A.A.

MONCRIEF, David M., Jr.
President, Board of Trustees, Library of Hawaii (p. 24).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., July 30, 1911.

Attended Punahou School, Honolulu, 1916-1928; Stanford University, 1928-1932, A.B. in Economics.

MONCRIEF, David M., Jr. (cont.)

Employed in Commercial Department, Hawaiian Electric Company, Ltd., Honolulu, since 1932, now general supervisor.

Past president, Honolulu Junior Chamber of Commerce, Honolulu Vocational Guidance Association; member, supervisory board, Adult Education Division, Department of Public Instruction, Territory of Hawaii.

MOORE, William C.

Judge, 4th Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Hollister, California, April 6, 1897. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii April 8, 1924.

Attended San Juan Bautista Grammar School, 1904-1911; San Benito County High School, 1911-1915; San Benito County Junior College, 1919-1920; Hastings College of Law, University of California, LL.B., 1923.

Law clerk, San Francisco and Honolulu, 1920-1925; Deputy County Attorney, Honolulu, 1926; Assistant U. S. Attorney, Honolulu, 1927-1939; private law practice, Honolulu, 1940-1944; Judge, Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1944 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii, California Bar Association.

MOSSMAN, Thomas, Dr.

City and County Physician, Health Department, City and County of Honolulu (p. 70).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., July 12, 1903.

Attended McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1922; University of Hawaii, 1922-1924; University of North Dakota School of Medicine, 1924-1926; University of Nebraska School of Medicine, 1926-1928, M.D.

Member, Honolulu County Medical Society, Territorial Medical Society, American Medical Association.

NIELSEN, Earl A.

Representative, 2nd District (West Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Kansas City, Missouri.

Former manager, KHBC radio station, Hilo, Hawaii; photographer; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

O'DOWDA, James M. Acting Chairman, Public Utilities Commission (p. 58).

Born in Ewa, Oahu, T. H., October 14, 1902.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu; Punahou School, Honolulu; University of California.

Sales Department, Tide-Water Associated Oil Company, 15 years; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1941; Director, Office of Defense Transportation, 1942-1945; sales manager, Honolulu Motors, Honolulu, 1945 to date; Acting Chairman, Public Utilities Commission, 1947 to date.

OHRT, Frederick

Manager and Chief Engineer, Board of Water Supply, City and County of Honolulu (pp. 39, 82).

Born in Spreckelsville, Maui, T. H., May 28, 1889.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1904; University of Oregon, 1907-1908; Cornell University, C.E., 1911; post graduate work, Harvard University; Massachusetts Institute of Technology School for Health Officers, 1917-1918.

Transitman, Brazil, 1912-1913; resident engineer, Honolulu; inspector and Assistant City Engineer, 1915-1917; sanitary engineer, Board of Health, Territory of Hawaii, 1917-1918; City Engineer, Honolulu, 1919-1923; chief engineer, Libby, McNeill & Libby Company, Honolulu, 1924-1925; harbor development at Molokai; Chief Engineer, Honolulu Sewer and Water Commission, 1925-1929; Manager and Chief Engineer, Board of Water Supply, 1929 to date.

Member, American Society of Civil Engineers, American Water Works Association, New England Water Works Association, Engineering Association of Hawaii (past president); trustee, Employees' Retirement System, Territory of Hawaii, 1936-1945, 1947 to date (chairman 1943-1945); chairman, Retirement and Pension Commission, Territory of Hawaii, 1946 to date; member, Classification Study Commission, Territory of Hawaii, 1947 to date.

<u>OUYE, Thomas</u> Representative, 6th District (Kauai), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p.3).

Born in Nawiliwili, Kauai, T. H.

Member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1941 to date.

OWENS, John A. Chairman, Territorial Apprenticeship Council (p. 23).

OWENS, John A. (cont.)

Born in Des Moines, Iowa, November 4, 1900. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii May 1, 1936.

Attended St. Ambrose School (elementary and high), Des Moines; International Correspondence School. Served apprenticeship in boilermaker trade.

Boilermaker; pattern draftsman; steel construction; steam power plant engineering; presently, Territorial Representative for American Federation of Labor.

Commissioner, Department of Public Instruction; member, Territorial Wage and Classification Study Commission, International Brotherhood of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders and Helpers of America (A.F.of L.); former Secretary of Honolulu Central Labor Council; member, Elks.

OZAKI, Harry S. Chairman, Motor Vehicle Dealers' and Salesmen Licensing Board (p. 51).

Born in Territory of Hawaii, January 17, 1894.

Attended public schools in Territory of Hawaii.

In automobile business in Territory of Hawaii since 1900; member, Traffic-Safety Commission of City and County of Honolulu, 1936-1946; member, Motor Vehicle Dealers' and Salesmen Licensing Board, 1939-1947, Chairman, 1947 to date.

Member, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; American Legion.

PAKELE, Peter N., Jr.
Representative, 1st District (East Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Laupahoehoe, Hawaii, T. H., September 20, 1894.

Attended public and private schools in Territory of Hawaii.

Hawaii Police Department, 27 years, now retired; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

PARKS, John E.

Judge, 3rd Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Bridgeport, Connecticut, September 1, 1909. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii June, 1936.

PARKS, John E. (cont.)

Attended University of Virginia, 1929-1931; University of Virginia Law School, 1931-1934, LL.B., 1934.

Private practice of law, 1936-1939; Assistant United States Attorney for Hawaii, 1939-1941; Assistant Public Prosecutor, City and County of Honolulu, 1941-1946; private practice of law, 1946-October, 1947; Chairman, Public Utilities Commission, Territory of Hawaii, 1946-October, 1947; Judge, 3rd Division, First Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, October, 1947 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii; American Bar Association.

PASCHOAL, Manuel G.
Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1919 to date.

PENCE, Martin
Judge, 3rd Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Sterling, Kansas, November 18, 1904. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1930.

A.B., 1926, School of Jurisprudence, University of California, Berkeley, 1928.

Admitted to California Bar, 1928, Hawaii Bar, 1933; law clerk, San Francisco, 1928-1930; claims attorney and manager, Claims Department, Home Insurance Company of Hawaii, 1930-1935; practice of law, Hilo, Hawaii, 1936-1945; County Attorney, County of Hawaii, 1939-1945; Judge, 3rd Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1945 to date.

<u>PETERS</u>, <u>Emil C</u>. Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii (p. 1).

Born in San Francisco, California, December 15, 1877. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii October 21, 1900.

Attended Stanford University, 1895-1897; Hastings College of Law, 1897-1900, University of California, LL.B., 1900.

Admitted to California State Bar, 1899; admitted to practice Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1900, Supreme Court of United States, 1915; Deputy Attorney General of Hawaii, 1903-1905; Attorney General of Territory of Hawaii, 1905-1907; private practice of law, 1907-1922; Chief Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1922-1926; private practice of law, 1926-1935; Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Hawaii, 1935 to date. Also Judge Advocate General, National Guard of Hawaii, 1905-1914; Chairman, Compilation Commission, 1923; member, Uniform Laws Commission, 1926-1940.

PETERS, Emil C. (cont.)

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii; member, Masons, Knight Templars, Shriners.

PIRES, John E.

Representative, 3rd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Hamakuapoko, Maui, T. H., August 3, 1886.

Attended public schools in Territory of Hawaii.

Formerly fence commissioner; poundmaster, 8 years; U. S. Public Health Service, 13 years; farmer and rancher; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

PORTEUS, Hebden

Representative, 4th District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p.3).

Attended Punahou School, Honolulu; University of Hawaii, A.B.; Harvard Law School, LL.B.

Attorney, Honolulu; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1941 to date.

PULE, Akoni

Representative, 2nd District (West Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Kohala, Hawaii, T. H.

Formerly police officer, dispatcher, County of Hawaii Police Department; employee, Kohala Sugar Company, Kohala, Hawaii; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1947 to date.

RICE, Harold W.

Senator, 2nd District (Maui), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., November 10, 1883.

Attended public schools in Territory of Hawaii; Lawrenceville School, New Jersey; Princeton University, 1907.

Overseer, Hawaiian Commercial & Sugar Company, Maui, 1906-1907; division overseer, Maui Agricultural Company, 1907; assistant manager, 1909; rancher, 1916 to date; member, Territorial Senate, 1919-1934; Chairman and Executive Officer, Maui Board of Supervisors, 1935-1938; school commissioner, 1939-1940; member, Territorial Senate, 1941 to date.

President, Maui Chamber of Commerce; Maui Country Club.

RICE, Philip L.
Judge, 5th Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Lihue, Kauai, T. H., July 22, 1886.

Attended grammar schools of Hawaii, 1892-1903; Punahou Academy, Honolulu, and Anderson Academy, California, 1903-1907; Heald's Business College, California, 6 months in 1907; University of Chicago Law School, 1914-1916.

Sugar plantation overseer, timekeeper and field boss, Kauai, Territory of Hawaii, 1908-1911; Clerk, Fifth Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1911-1913; practice of law in district courts of Territory of Hawaii under limited license, and insurance business, 1913-1914; admitted to practice in all courts of Territory of Hawaii, November, 1916; ROTC cadet and commissioned officer, U. S. Army, 1917-1919; general practice of law, Lihue, Kauai, 1919-1943; Judge, Fifth Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1943 to date.

Member, Phi Delta Phi (law fraternity), American Bar Association, Bar Association of Hawali.

RICHARDSON, Esther K.
Representative, 2nd District (West Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Territory of Hawaii.

Proprietor of Hawaiian curio shop, Hawaii; member, Territorial House of Representatives, 1943 to date.

ROOT, Louise (Mrs.)
Chairman, Advisory Board, Department of Public Welfare (p. 29).

Born in Monmouth, Illinois, April 12, 1901. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1929.

Attended Mount Union College, Alliance, Ohio, A.B., 1921; graduate work at New York School of Social Work, University of California, University of Hawaii.

Former teacher and student advisor; social case worker; visiting teacher with Commonwealth Fund, New York City; Director of Volunteer Placement, Office of Civilian Defense, during World War II; Assistant Director, Honolulu Community Council of Social Agencies.

Member, Advisory Board, School of Nursing, Kuakini Hospital; member, committees of Territorial Society of Mental Hygiene, American Association of University Women, American Association of Social Workers, Girl Scouts, Community Chest (all in Honolulu).

RUSH, Benjamin

Director, Board of Harbor Commissioners (p. 11).

Born in Elgin, Oregon, September 30, 1893. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii October, 1919.

Graduated from Elgin High School, Elgin, Oregon; Oregon State College, Corvallis, Oregon, B.S. in civil engineering, 1917.

Junior engineer, U. S. Geological Survey, June, 1917-November, 1917; U. S. Army, discharged as 2nd Lt., Corps of Engineers, November, 1917-July, 1919; junior and assistant engineer, U. S. Geological Survey, October, 1919-October, 1921; engineer and later Assistant Superintendent of Public Works, Territory of Hawaii, October, 1921-January, 1933; Chief Engineer, Department of Public Works, City and County of Honolulu, 1933-1940; U. S. Navy, Lt. Comdr. and Comdr., Civil Engineer Corps, 1941-October, 1943; Superintendent of Public Works, Territory of Hawaii, October, 1943-August, 1947; Director, Board of Harbor Commissioners, August, 1947 to date.

Member, Engineering Association of Hawaii (President, 1937); American Society of Civil Engineers (President of local section, 1943); served as project engineer on Underground Fuel Storage Project, Pearl Harbor, (Red Hill) and received commendation from Secretary of Navy for efficiency in handling project; member, Masons, Shriners.

RUSHFORTH, Paul W., Dr. Chairman, Board of Optometry (p. 54).

Born in Stockton, California, June 13, 1894. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii June, 1917.

Attended public schools in California; California College of Optometry, 1915. Passed California Board of Optometry in September, 1915.

Optometrist in Honolulu; member, American Optical Association, Hawaiian Optical Association.

SAKAKIHARA, Thomas T.
Representative, 1st District (East Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Hilo, Hawaii, T. H.

District Court Attorney, Hawaii; member Territorial House of Representatives, 1933-1937, 1941, 1947 to date.

SHERRETZ, D. Ransom

Director of Personnel, Civil Service Commission, City and County of Honolulu (p. 66).

Born in Makanda, Illinois, December 1, 1903. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1930.

Attended Southern Illinois University, B.Ed., 1924; George Williams College, Chicago, 1925; University of Wisconsin, 1927, 1928; University of Hawaii, M.A., 1932.

Teacher and coach, Collinsville, Illinois High School, 1924-1930; teacher and coach, Mid-Pacific Institute, Honolulu, 1930-1932; director of personnel, Honolulu Police Department, 1932-1939; part-time lecturer, University of Hawaii, 1933-1940; Director of Personnel, Civil Service Commission, City and County of Honolulu, 1939 to date.

Member, Civil Service Assembly.

SILVA, Charles H.

Senator, 1st District (Hawaii), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honokaa, Hawaii, September 21, 1903.

Attended grammar school in Kukuihaele, Hawaii; St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1925; St. Louis University, Missouri, D.D.S., 1929; post graduate study, University of California, 1930.

Practiced dentistry on Island of Hawaii, Honokaa, 1930, Kohala, 1931 to date; member, Territorial Senate, 1935 to date.

Member, Psi Omega; president, Kohala Lions Club; manager, Kohala Baseball Team.

SINCLAIR, Gregg M.

President, University of Hawaii (p. 36).

Born in St. Marys, Ontario, Canada, May 20, 1890. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1928.

Attended East High School, Minneapolis, Minn., 1908; University of Minnesota, B.A., 1912; Columbia University, M.A., 1919.

Instructor of English, Kyoto, Japan, 1912-1915; bond and mortgage business, Minneapolis, Minn., 1915-1917, 1921-1923; Instructor, Hikone (Japan) Commercial College, 1923-1926; assistant professor of English, University of Hawaii, 1928-1932, associate professor, 1932-1936, professor, 1936-1942; president, University of Hawaii, 1942 to date.

President, Footlights, Honolulu, 1930-1931; member, executive committee, Honolulu Community Theatre, 1935-1936, board of directors since 1936; member, Hawaiian Academy of Science, Honolulu Art Society, Asiatic Society (Japan), China Institute (N.Y.), American Oriental Society, India Society (London), Japan Society (N.Y.), Royal Asiatic Society (N. China branch), Asiatic

SINCLAIR, Gregg M. (cont.)

Society of Bengal (India), Modern Language Association of America, Dickens Fellowship of Hawaii (president), Bronte Society.

SINCLAIR, Karl A.

Chief Engineer, Department of Public Works, City and County of Honolulu (p.77).

Born in Beverly, Massachusetts, June 15, 1887. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii November, 1935.

Attended University of Maine, 1907, B.C.E., C.E.

Member, American Society of Civil Engineers; American Public Works Association; National Society of Professional Engineers.

SMITH, H. A.

Chief, Fire Department, City and County of Honolulu (p. 69).

Born in Nantucket Island, Massachusetts, March 1, 1891. Arrived in Territory May 22, 1911.

Attended Academy Hill School, Nantucket, Massachusetts, 1905; Moses Brown School, Providence, R. I., 1905-1906; School at Jubilee, Oak Hill, Ill., 1909.

Entered Fire Department in 1911 and held positions as hoseman, lieutenant, captain, 2nd Assistant Chief, 1st Assistant Chief, Chief since 1946.

Member, International Association of Fire Chiefs; National Fire Prevention Association.

SMITH, Alexander

Chairman, Board of Commissioners, Department of Public Instruction (p. 27).

Born in Glasgow, Scotland, June 27, 1901. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii February, 1928.

Attended Hillhead High School, Glasgow, Scotland, to 1917; University of Glasgow, Glasgow, Scotland, and Institute of Accountants and Actuaries, Glasgow, Scotland, 1917-1924, graduating with Degree of Chartered Accountant.

Audit clerk, Glasgow, Scotland, 1917-1927; senior audit clerk, Young, Lamberton & Pearson, Honolulu, 1928-1932; chief accountant, assistant treasurer, treasurer, Inter-Island Steam Navigation Company, Ltd., and Hawaiian Airlines, Ltd., 1932-1935; treasurer in 1936, secretary and personnel director, 1941, both corporations; Assistant Director of Materials and Supplies Division, Office of Military Governor, Territory of Hawaii, January, 1942-May, 1943; vice-president and secretary, Hawaiian Airlines, Ltd., 1945 to date. Also director, Hawaiian Airlines, Ltd., 1946 to date; secretary-treasurer and director, Coca-Cola Bottling Company, Honolulu, July, 1937 to date; secretary and director, Hawaii Transportation Company, Ltd., April, 1938 to date.

Member, Territorial Board of Accountancy; Hawaii Society of Certified Public Accountants; member, Waialae Golf Club, Pacific Club (President, 1947).

SPALDING, Philip E. Chairman, Board of Regents, University of Hawaii (p. 36).

Born in Minneapolis, Minn., November 5, 1889. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii 1912.

Attended public schools in Minneapolis and Seattle; Stanford University.

Contracting construction work in Honolulu, 1912; World War I service as captain and assistant Chief-of-Staff at Hawaiian Department headquarters until May 1919; Lewers & Cooke, Ltd., Honolulu, 5 years, resigned as vice-president in 1924; C. Brewer & Company, Ltd., Honolulu, since 1924, now vice-president and director; also director, Lewers & Cooke, Ltd., Bank of Hawaii, Ltd., Hawaiian Electric Company, Ltd., Mutual Telephone Company, and officer or director of several plantation companies.

President, Leahi Home; member, Honolulu Park Board, Pacific Club, Oahu Country Club, Hawaii Polo and Racing Club.

STAINBACK, Ingram M.
Governor of Territory of Hawaii (p. 4).

Born in Somerville, Tennessee, May 12, 1883. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii February 22, 1912.

Graduated from Princeton University, A.B., 1907; University of Chicago, J.D., 1912; University of Hawaii, LL.D., 1946.

Private practice of law; Territorial Attorney General; member, Public Utilities Commission, Territory of Hawaii; United States Attorney for the District of Hawaii; United States District Judge for Territory of Hawaii; Governor of Hawaii.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii; Phi Beta Kappa.

STERLING, Leon K., Sr. Clerk, City and County of Honolulu (p. 67).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., July 8, 1894.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1900-1912.

Clerk-stenographer, Hawaii Railway, Mahukona, Hawaii, 1912-1913; Hawaiian Electric Company, Honolulu, 1913-1914; Haiku Fruit & Packing Company, Maui, 1914-1917; Office of Secretary of Hawaii, 1917-1922; deputy clerk, City and County of Honolulu, 1922-1932; deputy high sheriff and deputy sheriff, City and County of Honolulu, 1932-1937; chief clerk and deputy sheriff, City and County of Honolulu, 1937-1944; City and County Clerk, Honolulu, 1944 to date.

STEVENS, E. Leigh Director, Territorial Employment Service (p. 21).

Born in Roanoke, Virginia, October 30, 1898. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii May, 1945.

Attended Roanoke High School, 1913-1917; Virginia Polytechnic Institute, 1917-1918; LaSalle Extension University, 1923-1925, certificate in accounting; American Banking Institute, 1926-1930, certificates in standard banking, commercial law, negotiable instruments, standard economics, analyzing financial statements.

Assistant bank cashier; field representative, National Emergency Council; state director, Office of Government Reports; field representative, Office of War Information; regional manpower field supervisor, War Manpower Commission; assistant manpower director, War Manpower Commission, Territory of Hawaii.

Member, American Banking Institute; Honolulu Chamber of Commerce.

THOMPSON, Henry N. Executive Secretary, Liquor Commission, City and County of Honolulu (p. 73).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., August 23, 1897.

Attended McKinley High School, Honolulu; LaSalle Extension University.

Chief clerk, Honolulu Star Bulletin, 12 years; yeoman, U. S. Navy, 8 months, 1917-1918; salesman, Aloha Motors and Graystone Corporation, Honolulu, 6 years; clerk, Office of City and County Clerk and Office of Territorial Auditor, 3 months; inspector, Liquor Commission, 1935-1939, assistant chief inspector, 1939-1944, chief inspector, 1944-1946; Executive Secretary, 1946 to date.

Member, Lions; Boy Scouts of America (committeeman).

THURSTON, Paul J.
Director, Bureau of the Budget (p. 5).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., January 6, 1902.

Graduated from St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1919; Correspondence Courses, International Accountants' Society, Inc., Chicago, Illinois; Extension Courses, University of Hawaii.

Accountant, The Liberty House, Honolulu, 1919-1927; accountant, Auditing Department, Territory of Hawaii, July, 1927-November, 1940; First Deputy Treasurer, Territory of Hawaii, December, 1940-September, 1942; Auditor, Territory of Hawaii, September, 1942-March, 1944; Director, Bureau of the Budget, Territory of Hawaii, April, 1944 to date.

Member, Municipal Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (State Chairman for Hawaii); Committee on Public Budget Procedure, 1945-1947.

TSUKIYAMA, Wilfred C.

Senator, 3rd District (Oahu), Legislature of Territory of Hawaii (p. 3).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., March 22, 1897.

Attended McKinley High School, Honolulu, 1918; Coe College, Iowa, 1911-1921; University of Chicago Law School, LL.B., 1924.

Private law practice, Honolulu, 1925-1928; Deputy City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1929-1932; City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1933-1940; private law practice, Honolulu, 1941 to date; member, Territorial Senate, 1947 to date.

Member, Bar Association of Hawaii (former member of Legislative Committee); volunteer worker, Office of Civilian Defense, Honolulu, 1941-1945; member, Governor Judd's Commission on Education, Governor Poindexter's Bureau of Leisure Activities and Self-Help; former director, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce.

TURNER, Farrant L.

Chairman, Territorial Council on Veterans' Affairs (p. 33).

Born in Hilo, Hawaii, T. H., July 16, 1895.

Attended Hilo High School, Hilo, Hawaii; Punahou Academy, Honolulu, 1913; Wesleyan University, Middletown, Connecticut, B.S., 1917, Honorary M.A., 1947.

U. S. Army, 1917-1919; sugar plantation in Territory, 1919-1922; Lewers & Cooke, Ltd., since 1922 except for 4 years in U. S. Army, World War II.

Director, Honolulu Chamber of Commerce; Lewers & Cooke, Ltd.; Honolulu Rapid Transit Company; member, Oahu Country Club, Commercial Club, Outrigger Club (all in Honolulu).

VANCE, Thomas B.

Director, Department of Institutions (p. 19).

Born in Strawberry Plains, Tennessee, March 17, 1900. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August, 1922.

Attended Maryville College, Maryville, Tennessee, B.A., 1922; University of Hawaii, M.A., 1933.

Classroom teacher, Kauai High School, Lihue, Kauai, 1922-1923; classroom teacher, Hilo Junior High School, Hilo, Hawaii, 1923-1925; principal, Laupahoehoe Intermediate School, Laupahoehoe, Hawaii, 1925-1928; principal, Kalakaua Intermediate School, Honolulu, 1928-1936; principal, Farrington High School, Honolulu, 1936-1943; Assistant Director, Department of Institutions, Territory of Hawaii, 1943-1944; Director, Department of Institutions, Territory of Hawaii, 1944 to date.

VANCE, Thomas B. (cont.)

Member, City Planning Commission, City and County of Honolulu; American Prison Association; Mental Hygiene Society of Territory of Hawaii; Oahu Health Council; International Footprint Association; Hawaiian Association of Law Enforcement Officials; Lions; Young Men's Christian Association.

WALKER, H. Alexander

Chairman, Board of Hospitals and Settlement (p. 18).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., February 19, 1885.

Attended Harvard University, 1903-1907, A.B., 1907.

President and manager, American Factors, Ltd., Honolulu; Chairman, Board of Hospitals and Settlement, 1931 to date.

WEIDKNECHT, Edward B.

Chairman, Board of Pharmacy (p. 56).

Born in Peoria, Illinois, October 20, 1903. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii November 11, 1932.

Attended high school, Peoria, Illinois; University of Southern California, Graduate School of Pharmacy, 1922-1927.

Manager, Drug Division, Hotel Import Company, Honolulu (wholesale druggists and hospital purveyors).

Past president, Kappa Psi (professional pharmaceutical fraternity); director, Hawaii Pharmaceutical Society; member, Hospital Administrators Association, American Surgical Trades Association.

WEST, Frank H.

Chairman, Hawaiian Homes Commission (p. 15).

Born in Lancaster, Kentucky, February 19, 1886. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii May 15, 1915.

Attended grammar schools and Central High School, Washington, D. C.; George Washington University, 1 year; University of Michigan, 22 years, studying civil engineering.

Engineer and construction manager, Hawaiian Dredging Company and Hawaiian Contracting Company, 1915-1933; vice-president and general manager, Hawaiian Cane Products, 1933-1947; president, Hawaiian Cane Products, 1947 to date.

Member, Hawaiian Engineering Society.

WILBAR, Charles L., Jr., Dr. President, Board of Health (p. 16).

Born in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, June 8, 1907. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii December 28, 1934.

Attended West Philadelphia High School, 1921-1924; University of Pennsylvania, 1924-1928, A.B., 1928; University of Pennsylvania Medical School, 1928-1932, M.D., 1932; general rotating internship, Abington Memorial Hospital, Abington, Pa., 1932-1933; resident in pediatrics, Mary Drexel Children's Hospital, Pa., 1934; resident in medicine, The Queen's Hospital, Honolulu, 1935.

Director, Ewa Health Project, Ewa, T. H., 1936-1939 (research in public health, nutrition and pediatrics); Director, Bureau of Maternal & Child Health, T. H., 1939-1941; sent by Territorial Board of Health for year of pediatric training at Children's Hospital, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1940-1941; U. S. Army, Major, 1941-1943; President, Board of Health, 1943 to date.

Member, Honolulu County Medical Society, American Medical Association, Phi Kappa Tau, Alpha Mu Pi Omega, Waialae Country Club; director, Honolulu Lions Club; diplomat of the American Board of Pediatrics since 1941; fellow of American Public Health Association since 1944.

<u>WILLERS, Ernest H., Dr.</u> Member, Board of Veterinary Examiners (p. 60).

Born in Seattle, Washington, December 9, 1906. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii October, 1930.

Attended public schools in Seattle, Washington; State College of Washington, Pullman, Washington, B.S., D.V.Sc., 1929.

Private practice in Seattle, Washington; private practice in Honolulu; associated with Board of Agriculture and Forestry on special assignments, 1935; Territorial Veterinarian, 1938 to date. Also co-owner, Blue Cross Animal Hospital, Honolulu, 1931 to date.

Member, American Veterinarian Association (Vice-president, 1947); past president, Hawaii Veterinarian Association; member, Elks, Scottish Rite, Shriners.

WILSON, John H. Mayor, City and County of Honolulu (p. 63).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., December 15, 1871.

Attended schools in Honolulu; Stanford University, California.

City engineer, Honolulu, 1919-1920; engineer, private contracts, Honolulu, 1931-1934; postmaster, Territory of Hawaii, 1934-1939; Director, Department of Public Welfare, Territory of Hawaii, 1939-1946; Mayor, City and County of Honolulu, 1920-1923, 1923-1926, 1929-1930, 1947 to date.

Democratic National Committeeman from Hawaii, 1912-1940.

WIRTZ, Cable A.
Judge, 2nd Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii (p. 2).

Born in Honolulu, T. H., May 9, 1910.

Attended St. Louis College, Honolulu, 1916-1928; University of Santa Clara, 1928-1932, A.B., 1932; Harvard Law School, 1932-1935, LL.B., 1935.

Private law practice, Honolulu, 1935-1939; Deputy City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1939-1942; City and County Attorney, Honolulu, 1942-1944; Judge, 2nd Circuit Court, Territory of Hawaii, 1944 to date.

Member, American Bar Association; Bar Association of Hawaii; Harvard Law School Association.

WITHINGTON, Paul, Dr. Chairman, Territorial Boxing Commission (p. 43).

Born in Escondido, California, January 25, 1888. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii August 12, 1903.

Attended elementary public schools in Escondido, California, 1897-1901; San Diego High School, 1901-1903; Punahou School, Honolulu, 1903-1905; Harvard College, 1905-1910; Harvard Medical School, 1910-1914, M.D.

Instructor, Department of Hygiene, Harvard College, 2 years; professor of physical education and instructor in surgery, University of Wisconsin, 1 year; Head football coach, University of Wisconsin and Columbia University; Major, M.C., U. S. Army; Captain, U.S.N.R. (Assistant District Medical Officer, 14th N. D., 3 years); member, Territorial Board of Health, 4 years; Territorial Board of Medical Examiners, 7 years; Hospital Board, 20 years; director, Honolulu Gas Company, 16 years; member, Board of Governors, Iolani School, Honolulu, 15 years; private practice of medicine, 27 years (physician and surgeon).

Member, Honolulu County Medical Society, Territorial Medical Society, American Medical Association; Hawaiian Academy of Science; assistant graduate treasurer, Harvard University Athletic Association; director, Hawaii Medical Service Association, Territory of Hawaii.

ZIEGLER, Jacob C. Chairman, Territorial Board of Barbers (p. 42).

Born in Winnsboro, Texas, December 25, 1888. Arrived in Territory of Hawaii October 21, 1920.

Attended public schools in Texas, night schools in Honolulu, T. H.

Proprietor, barber shop, 1921 to date; member, Democratic Territorial Central Committee, 1942-1947; City and County of Honolulu Liquor Commission, 1947; Territorial Board of Barbers, 1947 to date.

INDEX OF NAMES AND AGENCIES

ABSTRACT MAKERS, BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF (TER.) -- 40 ACCOUNTANCY, TERRITORIAL BOARD OF --- 41 Ackerman, Walter D., Jr. -- 7, 40, 83 AERONAUTICS COMMISSION, HAWAII (TER.) -- 12 Afat, Alfred Apaka -- 3, 83 AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 9 Aguiar, George R. -- 3, 83 Akana, Thelma (Mrs.) -- 3, 83 Akina, Arthur A. -- 37, 84 Andrade, James J., Dr. -- 44, 84 Andrews, Joseph G. -- 3, 84 Aoki, J. W. -- 49, 85 APPRENTICESHIP COUNCIL (TER.) -- 21, 23 Arashiro, Matsuki -- 3, 85 ARCHITECTS, ETC., BOARD OF REGIS-TRATION FOR (TER.) -- 47 ARCHIVES, BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF PUBLIC (TER.) -- 26 ATTORNEY GENERAL, OFFICE OF THE (TER.) -- 7 AUDITOR, OFFICE OF THE (TER.) -- 8 AUDITOR, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 64

BARBERS, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 42
Bell, Douglas B., Dr. -- 50, 85
Belt, Robert M. -- 30, 85
Bigelow, Lyman H. -- 65, 86
Blaisdell, Neal S. -- 3, 86
Bolles, Edward A. -- 59, 86
Bond, Kenneth D. -- 3, 87
Borthwick, William -- 32, 87
BOXING COMMISSION, TERRITORIAL -- 43
Brown, Francis Hyde Ii -- 3, 87
Brown, William B. -- 34, 38, 88
Buck, Carrick H. (Miss) -- 2, 88
BUDGET, BUREAU OF THE (TER.) -- 5
BUILDINGS, DEPARTMENT OF (C&C) -- 65

Campbell, Robert L. -- 12, 89
Capellas, Eugene S. -- 3, 89
Castro, A. D. -- 28, 89
Chang, Raymond -- 3, 90
Chapman, E. Walker -- 10, 90
CHIROPRACTOR EXAMINERS, BOARD
OF (TER.) -- 44

Chu, Peter E. -- 37, 90 Chung-Hoon, William, Jr. -- 81, 90 CIRCUIT COURTS -- 2 CITY AND COUNTY ATTORNEY, OFFICE OF THE -- 71 CITY PLANNING COMMISSION (C&C) -- 74 CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION AND PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD, TERRITORIAL --CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION AND PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD (C&C) -- 66 CLERK, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 67 CONTROLLER, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 68 CONVEYANCES, BUREAU OF (TER.) -- 35 Corbett, Gerald R. -- 2, 91 CORONER, CITY AND COUNTY (see SHERIFF, OFFICE OF THE). COSMETICIANS AND COSMETOLOGISTS, BOARD OF HAIRDRESSERS, (TER.) -- 48 Cristy, Albert M. -- 2, 40, 91 Crozier, Clarence A. -- 3, 91

DENTAL EXAMINERS, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 45 Dickson, Joseph -- 8, 92 Dillingham, Walter H. -- 3, 93 DISTRICT COURTS -- 61

ELECTRICAL EXAMINERS, BOARD OF

(see BUILDINGS, DEPARTMENT OF) (C&C)

EMBALMING AND FUNERAL DIRECTING,

BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF APPLICANTS FOR

LICENSE TO PRACTICE (TER.) -- 46

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (TER.) -
38

ENGINEERS, ARCHITECTS AND SURVEYORS,

BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PRO
FESSIONAL (TER.) -- 47

FAIR COMMISSION OF HAWAII (TER.) -- 10
Fernandes, John B. -- 3, 94
Fernandez, Louis -- 65, 93
Fernandez, Louis K. -- 3, 93
FIRE DEPARTMENT (C&C) -- 69
Fong, Hiram L. -- 3, 93
Fong, Leonard K. -- 64, 93
FORESTRY, BOARD OF AGRICULTURE AND (TER.) -- 9

Freedman, Morris N. -- 22, 94
FUNERAL DIRECTING, BOARD OF EXAMINERS
OF APPLICANTS FOR LICENSE TO
PRACTICE EMBALMING AND (TER.) -- 46

Gier, Bernice L., Dr. -- 55, 94
Gignoux, Alexis J. -- 20, 94
Gilliland, James F. -- 3, 95
Glover, James W. -- 3, 95
Godbold, Wilford D. -- 71, 95
Gomes, Clement -- 3, 96
Goodness, Reuben -- 3, 96
GOVERNOR, OFFICE OF THE -- 4
Guild, Archibald S. -- 13, 96
Guntzer, Vincent -- 33, 97

HAIRDRESSERS, COSMETICIANS AND COSMETOLOGISTS, BOARD OF (TER.) --Hamman, Grace C. (Mrs.) -- 31, 97 Hanakahi, Harry -- 3, 97 Hanson, Harry A. - 41, 97 HARBOR COMMISSIONERS, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 11 HAWAII AERONAUTICS COMMISSION (TER.) --- 12 HAWAII HOUSING AUTHORITY (TER.) -- 13 HAWAII NATIONAL GUARD, MILITARY DEPARTMENT (TER.) -- 25 HAWAII STATEHOOD COMMISSION (TER.) --HAWAIIAN HOMES COMMISSION (TER.) -- 15 Hayes, Flora K. (Mrs.) -- 3, 98 HEALTH, BOARD OF (see HEALTH, DEPART-MENT OF) (TER.) HEALTH, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) -- 16 HEALTH DEPARTMENT (C&C) -- 70 Heen, Ernest N. -- 3, 98 Heen, William H. -- 3, 98 Henriques, Manuel S. -- 3, 99 HIGH SHERIFF, OFFICE OF THE (TER.) --Hill, William H. -- 3, 99 Holcomb, Newton R. -- 29, 99 HONOLULU POLICE DEPARTMENT (C&C) -- 75 Hoopai, William -- 75, 99 Hosoi, Herman -- 46, 100

HOSPITALS AND SATTLEMENT, BOARD OF (TER) - 18 Houghtailing, George K. -- 74, 80, 100

HOUSING AUTHORITY, HAWAII (TER.) -- 13

Houvener, H. L., Dr. -- 45, 100 Hoyt, Simes T. -- 47, 101 Huckestein, Mark N. -- 35, 40, 101

Ignacio, Amos A. -- 3, 102
INSTITUTIONS, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) -19
INSTRUCTION, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC
(TER.) -- 27
Itagaki, Joseph R. -- 3, 102

Jones, Virginia (Miss) -- 53, 102

Kahanamoku, Duke P. -- 79, 102
Kaholokula, Joseph A. -- 3, 102
Kam, Frank Y. -- 3, 103
Kaonohi, Alexander K., Dr. -- 52, 103
Kauhane, Charles E. -- 3, 104
Keller, Arthur R. -- 39, 104
Kemp, Samuel B. -- 1, 104
Keppeler, Paul K. -- 68, 105
Kido, Mitsuyuki -- 3, 105

LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS APPEAL BOARD (TER.) - 22 LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) -- 21 LANDS AND SURVEY, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC (TER.) -- 28 Lau, Ah Chew -- 17, 105 Le Baron, Louis -- 1, 106 Lee, Herbert K. H. -- 3, 106 LEGISLATIVE REFERENCE BUREAU (see UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII) (TER.) LEGISLATURE OF THE TERRITORY OF HAWAII -- 3 Lennox, Colin G. -- 9, 106 LIBRARY OF HAWAII (TER.) -- 24 LICENSING OF NURSES, BOARD OF (TER.) --LIQUOR COMMISSION (C&C) -- 73 Lloyd, Robert H. - 13, 107 Long, Oren E. -- 6, 26, 107 Longley, Abner T. -- 14, 107 Loomis, Ruth W. (Miss) -- 21, 108 Loper, W. Harold, Dr. -- 27, 36, 108 Lyons, J. E. -- 76, 108

Makinney, Fred W. (Brig. Gen.) -25, 109

Marks, A. Lester -- 28, 109

MASSAGE, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 49

Matthewman, John A. -- 2, 109

MAYOR, OFFICE OF THE -- 63

McGuire, Walter F. -- 3, 110

MEDICAL EXAMINERS, BOARD OF (TER.) -50

Miles, William E. -- 78, 110

MILITARY DEPARTMENT, HAWAII
NATIONAL GUARD (TER.) -- 25

Moncrief, David M., Jr. -- 24, 110

Moore, Willson C. -- 2, 111

Mossman, Thomas, Dr. -- 70, 111

MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS' AND SALESMEN'S LICENSING BOARD (TER.) -51

NATUROPATHY, BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF (TER.) -- 52 Nielsen, Earl A. -- 3, 111

O'Dowda, James M. -- 58, 112
Ohrt, Frederick -- 39, 82, 112
OPTOMETRY, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 54
OSTEOPATHIC EXAMINERS, BOARD OF
(TER.) -- 55
Ouye, Thomas -- 3, 112
Owens, John A. -- 23, 112
Ozaki, Harry S. -- 51, 113

Pakele, Peter N., Jr. -- 3, 113

Parks, John E. -- 2, 113

PARKS AND RECREATION, BOARD OF

PUBLIC (C&C) -- 76

PAROLES AND PARDONS, BOARD OF

(TER.) -- 20

Paschoal, Manuel G. -- 3, 114

Pence, Martin -- 2, 114

PENSION BOARD, CITY AND COUNTY (see

CLERK, OFFICE OF THE)

PENSION COMMISSION, TERRITORIAL

RETIREMENT AND -- 39

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD,

TERRITORIAL CIVIL SERVICE

COMMISSION AND -- 37

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION BOARD, CIVIL

SERVICE COMMISSION AND (C&C) -- 66

Peters, Emil C. -- 1, 114 PHARMACY, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 56 PHOTOGRAPHY, BOARD OF (TER.) -- 57 Pires, John E. -- 3, 115 PLANNING COMMISSION, CITY (C&C) -- 74 PLUMBING EXAMINERS, BOARD OF (see BUILDINGS, DEPARTMENT OF) (C&C) POLICE DEPARTMENT, HONOLULU (C&C) -- 75 Porteus, Hebden -- 3, 115 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS, ARCHITECTS AND SURVEYORS, BOARD OF REGISTRA-TION FOR (TER.) -- 47 PROSECUTOR, OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC (C&C) -- 72 PUBLIC ARCHIVES, BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF (TER.) -- 26 PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) -- 27 PUBLIC LANDS AND SURVEY, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) -- 28 PUBLIC PARKS AND RECREATION, BOARD OF (C&C) -- 76 PUBLIC PROSECUTOR, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 72 PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION (TER.) --PUBLIC WELFARE, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) --- 29 PUBLIC WELFARE ADVISORY BOARD (see PUBLIC WELFARE, DEPARTMENT OF) (TER.) PUBLIC WORKS, DEPARTMENT OF (TER.) --PUBLIC WORKS, DEPARTMENT OF (C&C) -- 77 Pule, Akoni -- 3, 115

REAL ESTATE LICENSE COMMISSION

(TER.) -- 59

REGENTS, BOARD OF (see UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII) (TER.)

RENT CONTROL COMMISSION (C&C) -- 78

RETIREMENT AND PENSION COMMISSION,

TERRITORIAL -- 39

RETIREMENT SYSTEM, EMPLOYEES' (TER.) -- 38

Rice, Harold W. -- 3, 115

Rice, Philip L. -- 2, 116

Richardson, Esther K. -- 3, 116

Root, Louise (Mrs.) -- 29, 116

Rush, Benjamin -- 11, 117

Rushforth, Paul W., Dr. -- 54, 117

Sakakihara, Thomas T. -- 3, 117 SALESMEN'S LICENSING BOARD, MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS' AND (TER.) -- 51 SECRETARY OF HAWAII -- 6 SHERIFF, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 79 Sherretz, D. Ransom -- 66, 118 SIGHT CONSERVATION AND WORK WITH THE BLIND, BUREAU OF (TER.) -- 31 Silva, Charles H. -- 3, 118 Sinclair, Gregg M. -- 36, 118 Sinclair, Karl A. -- 77, 119 Smith, Alexander - 27, 119 Smith, H. A. -- 69, 119 Spalding, Philip E. - 36, 120 Stainback, Ingram M. - 4, 120 STATEHOOD COMMISSION, HAWAII (TER.) . Sterling, Leon K., Sr. -- 67, 120 Stevens, E. Leigh - 21, 121 SUPERVISORS, BOARD OF (C&C) -- 62 SUPREME COURT -- 1 SURVEYORS, ETC., BOARD OF REGISTRA-

TAX COMMISSIONER, OFFICE OF THE

(TER.) -- 32

TERRITORIAL RETIREMENT AND PENSION

COMMISSION -- 39

Thompson, Henry N. -- 73, 121

Thurston, Paul J. -- 5, 121

TRAFFIC SAFETY COMMISSION (C&C) -- 80

TREASURER, OFFICE OF THE (TER.) -- 34

TREASURER, OFFICE OF THE (C&C) -- 81

Tsukiyama, Wilfred C. -- 3, 122

Turner, Farrant L. -- 33, 122

TION FOR (TER.) --- 47

UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII (TER.) -- 36 UTILITIES COMMISSION, PUBLIC (TER.) -- 58

Vance, Thomas B. -- 19, 122

VETERANS' AFFAIRS, TERRITORIAL

COUNCIL ON -- 33

VETERINARY EXAMINERS, BOARD OF

(TER.) -- 60

Walker, H. Alexander — 18, 123
WATER SUPPLY, BOARD OF (C&C) — 82
Weidknecht, Edward B. — 56, 123
WELFARE, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC (TER.) — 29
West, Frank H. — 15, 123
Wilbar, Charles L., Jr., Dr. — 16, 124
Willers, Ernest H., Dr. — 60, 124
Wilson, John H. — 63, 124
Wirtz, Cable A. — 2, 125
Withington, Paul, Dr. — 43, 125

Ziegler, Jacob C. -- 42, 125